
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Monday, March 28, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
40 East Center Avenue 

Village Hall Board Room 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. AWARDS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 

a) A Proclamation Designating April 2016 as “Fair Housing Month” 
 

4. CONSIDERATION OF THE MARCH 14, 2016 VILLAGE BOARD MEETING  
 

5. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen (15) minutes during this item for those individuals who 
would like the opportunity to address the Village Board of Trustees on any matter not listed on the agenda.  Each 
person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 

6. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees will entertain requests from anyone present on the order of business to be 
conducted during the Village Board Meeting. 
 

7. VILLAGE FINANCE REPORT 
 

a) Warrant Report for March 16-31, 2016  
 

8. VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

a) Request from the Lake Bluff Park District to Waive Building Permit Fees for the Installation of Emergency Lights 
in the Blair Recreation Center 

b) Request from the Lake Bluff Park District to Waive Building Permit Fees for the Resurfacing of the Tennis 
Courts in Artesian Park 
 

9. VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
10. VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

 
11. ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 

Please note all correspondence was delivered to the Village Board of Trustees in the Informational Reports on March 
11 and 18, 2016. 
 



Board of Trustees Regular Meeting – March 14, 2016 
 

Page 2 

12. A RESOLUTION REALLOCATING THE 2016 VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF VOLUME CAP TO THE VILLAGE 
OF BUFFALO GROVE, ILLINOIS (Host Community of the Lake County Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse) 
 

13. SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATIONS FROM THE VILLAGE’S MAXIMUM 
FLOOR AREA AND SIDE YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS (611 E. Prospect Avenue) 
 

14. SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ADMINISTRATIVE AND ENFORCEMENT 
PROVISIONS OF THE VILLAGE’S BUILDING REGULATIONS 
 

15. SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE COMPREHENSIVELY AMENDING TITLE IX OF THE LAKE 
BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE TO UPDATE NEW BUILDING, CONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT 
STANDARDS 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

16. A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 2016-2017 OFFICIAL PAY PLAN 
 

17. AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 1 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REGARDING THE COMPREHENSIVE FEE SCHEDULE 

 
18. AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO LAKE EFFECT HOLDINGS, LLC TO PERMIT 

OPERATION OF AN EATING PLACE WITHOUT A DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITY AND APPROVING A SITE 
PLAN AT 600 WALNUT AVENUE (Hansa Coffee) 

 
19. SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE BIENNIAL BUDGET FOR THE VILLAGE OF 

LAKE BLUFF FOR THE FISCAL YEARS COMMENCING MAY 1, 2016 AND ENDING APRIL 30, 2018  
 

20. TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
 
21. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
22. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MARCH 14, 2016 EXECUTIVE SESSION MEETING 

 
23. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

R. Drew Irvin 
Village Administrator 

 
The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting 
and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding accessibility of the 
meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin, Village Administrator, at 234-0774 or TDD number 234-2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake 
Bluff to make reasonable accommodations. 



 
 
 

P R O C L A M A T I O N 
 

Designating April 2016 as “Fair Housing Month” 
 
 WHEREAS, April 11, 2016, marks the 48th anniversary of the passage of the U.S. Fair 
Housing Law, Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, as amended, which enunciates a national 
policy of Fair Housing without regard to race, color, religion, sex, familial status, handicap and 
national origin, and encourages fair housing opportunities for all citizens; and, 
 

WHEREAS, individuals in the State of Illinois have the right to choose where to live without 
discrimination based on race, color, religion, age (40 and over), sex (including sexual harassment and 
pregnancy), familial status, marital status, national origin/ancestry, disability, sexual orientation, 
gender identity, military status, unfavorable military discharge, and order of protection status; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the National Association of Realtors code of ethics commits all Realtors to 
providing equal professional services without discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, 
familial status, handicap, sexual orientation, gender identity, and national origin; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, acts of housing discrimination and barriers to equal housing opportunity are 
repugnant to a common sense of decency and fairness; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff welcomes the opportunity to reaffirm our commitment 
to the principal of fair housing for all and is committed to all efforts that address discrimination in 
our communities, support all programs that will educate the public concerning their rights to equal 
housing opportunity and to assure every person their right to live free of the fear of housing 
discrimination. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE VILLAGE PRESIDENT AND 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, COUNTY OF LAKE, AND 
STATE OF ILLINOIS, hereby proclaims April 2016, “Fair Housing Month” in the Village of Lake 
Bluff.  This proclamation begins a year long commemoration of the U.S. Fair Housing Law in Lake 
Bluff and urge all citizens to wholeheartedly recognize this celebration throughout the year. 
  
PASSED this ___ day of March, 2016. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________   _______________________________ 
Village Clerk      Village President 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
AGENDA ITEM: 3A



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

MARCH 14, 2016      
                                                                                                     

DRAFT MINUTES 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
Village President O’Hara called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Lake Bluff Village Hall Board 
Room, and Village Clerk Aaron Towle called the roll.  
 
The following were present: 
 
Village President:  Kathleen O’Hara 
 
Trustees:   Barbara Ankenman 
    Steve Christensen 

Mark Dewart 
John Josephitis 

    William Meyer   
 
Absent:   Eric Grenier, Village Trustee 
 
Also Present:   Aaron Towle, Village Clerk 

Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
Peter Friedman, Village Attorney 

    Susan Griffin, Finance Director 
    Jeff Hansen, Village Engineer 
    Mike Croak, Building Codes Supervisor (BCS) 
    David Belmonte, Police Chief 
    Jake Terlap, Public Works Superintendent 
    Franco Bottalico, Administrative Intern 
 
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
President O’Hara led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES 
 
Trustee Christensen moved to approve the February 20, 2016 Special Meeting and February 22, 2016 
Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes as presented.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The 
motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

4. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

President O’Hara stated the Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen minutes for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board on any matter not listed on the 
agenda.  Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes. 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

2 
 

 
President O’Hara recognized Lake Bluff Boy Scout Troop #42 and noted their attendance at tonight’s 
meeting helps them earn the community citizen badge. 
 
Ms. Kristin Ashley, President of Artists on the Bluff, read a letter thanking the Village for its support over 
the years and as a community partner for providing space for an art gallery, painting of two murals in the 
train station and supporting the Artists on the Bluff’s arts festival each summer.  She stated a rendering of 
the historic train station and a coloring book of local Lake Bluff scenes was given to Staff prior to the 
meeting.  Ms. Ashley thanked the Village Board for their support over the years and provided a copy of 
the letter for the record. 
 

5. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 
At the request of those present, Trustee Meyer moved to take Agenda Items #20, #11 and #12 then return 
to the regular order of the meeting.  Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a 
unanimous voice vote. 
 

6. ITEM #20 – AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATION FROM THE VILLAGE’S 
MAXIMUM FLOOR AREA AND SIDE YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS (611 E. Prospect 
Avenue) 

 
President O’Hara reported on January 27, 2016 the Village received a zoning application from Bruce and 
Jill Danly, property owners of 611 E. Prospect Avenue, requesting variations from the Village’s maximum 
floor area regulations and the R-4 District minimum side yard setback regulations to remove and 
reconstruct a single story addition on the rear of the house to serve as a mudroom.  The house was 
originally built in the 1880s and is a legal nonconforming structure because the house:  
 

 exceeds the maximum floor area regulations by 1,000.41 sq. ft. (1,759.13 sq. ft. maximum allowed); 
and 

 encroaches into the westerly side yard setback by 0.78 ft. (5.18 ft. minimum is required). 
 

President O’Hara reported at its meeting on February 17th the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board 
of Appeals (PCZBA) conducted a public hearing and recommended the Village Board approve the 
following:  
 

 A variation from the maximum floor area regulations of 1,017.98 sq. ft. (or a 57.87% variation); 
and 

 A variation from the R-4 District minimum side yard setback regulations of .78 ft. (or a 15.38% 
variation)  

 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to approve first reading of the 
ordinance.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

3 
 

 
7. ITEM #11 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR A PROPOSED 

GENERATOR AND FENCE AT BLAIR PARK LOCATED AT 355 W. WASHINGTON 
AVENUE 
 
President O’Hara reported the Lake Bluff Park District proposes to place a generator to the south of the 
Blair Park Recreation Center, east of the skate park, in order to provide emergency power during outages. 
The generator will be screened by a 6 foot wooden fence similar to the fence around the generator behind 
Village Hall.  She further reported at their March 1, 2016 meeting, the Architectural Board of Review 
(ABR) recommended the Village Board approve the site plan for the fence and generator.  In preparation 
for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring property owners have been notified 
and a resolution has been prepared transmitting the ABR’s recommendation.  
 
In response to a question from the Board, Lake Bluff Park District Superintendent of Facility Services Ed 
Heiser stated he is unaware of any comments regarding the generator.  He stated the site plan presented 
tonight does not reflect the Park District’s intent to install the generator closer to the rear of the building. 
 
As there were no further questions from the Board, Trustee Josephitis moved to adopt the resolution. 
Trustee Meyer seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 

 
8. ITEM #12 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR A FENCE AND 

LANDSCAPING FOR THE WADING POOL AT BLAIR PARK LOCATED AT 355 W. 
WASHINGTON AVENUE 

 
President O’Hara reported on September 28, 2015 the Village Board approved a site plan for the new 
swimming pool and wading pool at Blair Park.  Per the recommendation of the ABR, the resolution called 
for the Park District to return for later approval of landscaping and the fence around the exterior of the 
wading pool.  The Park District’s original proposal was to place a chain link fence around the exterior of 
the wading pool.  At the suggestion of the ABR, they have revised the plan to use a more decorative 
aluminum fence in this location.  The existing fence will remain around the main pool.  She further 
reported at their March 1, 2016 meeting, the ABR recommended that the Village Board approve the 
amended site plan for the fence and landscaping.  In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of 
the request, the neighboring property owners have been notified and a resolution has been prepared 
transmitting the ABR’s recommendation.  
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Christensen moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Dewart seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

9. ITEM #6A – WARRANT REPORT FOR MARCH 1-15, 2016 AND FEBRUARY 2016  
PAYROLL EXPENDITURES 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

4 
 

 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of 
$289,965.01 for March 1-15, 2016. 
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payroll in the amount of $255,089.49 for 
February 2016. 
 
As such, the total Expenditures for this period is in the amount of $545,054.50. 
 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Meyer moved to approve the Warrant Report.   
Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

10. ITEM #6B – FEBRUARY 2016 FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
At President O’Hara’s request, Finance Director Susan Griffin provided a brief summary of the February 
2016 Finance Report highlighting major revenue sources and expenditures for the period: 
 

 Sales tax revenue for May-November 2015 is $1.66 million which is $189,000 or 13% greater 
and home rule sales tax of $453,000 is $116,000 or 34% greater than the same period in 2014; 

 Income tax receipts of $468,000 for May 2015 – February 2016 is 11% greater than the same 
period in 2014-15; 

 Building permit revenue projection has been revised from $660,000 to $500,000 as some 
anticipated building activity is not expected to commence before May 1st; 

 Capital project expenditures exceed the same period in the prior fiscal year by $552,000; and 
 Water bill consumption is down 7.331 million gallons.  This resulted in a decline in water sales 

of $17,000 (after accounting for the change in water rates). 
 

Staff continues to closely monitor the actions in Springfield and assess any implications to the Village 
including potential changes in State-shared revenue allocations, property tax limitation changes, or 
pension reform become law. 
 
Trustee Christensen moved to accept the Finance Report. Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.  The 
motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

11. ITEM #7A – VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT REGARDING THE MANAGEMENT 
OF ELECTRONIC WASTE 
 
Village Administrator Drew Irvin reported the ability for Lake County residents to have E-waste drop-off 
facilities has diminished because the Solid Waste Agency of Lake County (SWALCO) cannot comply 
with the unanticipated costs associated with collecting electronics.  SWALCO will continue to work with 
electronic manufacturers, legislators and recyclers to develop a sustainable solution to dispose of E-waste. 
Village Administrator Irvin reported when the Village had to stop offering a year-round drop off location 
for recycling old computers and electronics equipment at the Public Works Facility at the end of 2014, 
Lake Bluff residents were directed to dispose of E-waste at nearby Midwest Computer Recycling (101 
Skokie Valley Road).  Lake Bluff residents can continue to dispose of E-waste at Midwest Computer  



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

5 
 

 
Recycling (disposal of TVs include a charge up to $20) or residents may want to call Groot (877-404-
7668) to schedule a special home pick up.  If residents contact Groot 24 hours before the standard 
collection day, Groot will collect six items of E-waste at the curb for a fee of $30.00 (6 item limit can 
include one TV with a weight limit of 45 lbs.).   
 
Trustee Dewart moved to accept the report.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed 
on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

12. ITEM #7B – VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT REGARDING A REQUEST FROM 
THE LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT TO WAIVE BUILDING PERMIT FEES FOR THE 
PADDLE COURT LIGHTS AT BLAIR PARK 

 
Village Administrator Irvin reported on March 7, 2016 the Village received a letter from Lake Bluff Park 
District Board President Rob Douglass requesting a waiver of all fees associated with the replacement of 
the Paddle Court lights at Blair Park (355 W. Washington Avenue).  As the total cost of construction for 
this project is $10,966, it is estimated that without a waiver, the permit fees for the project would be $235.  
Similar requests have been considered on a case-by-case basis for other non-profit and governmental 
organizations.    
 
Trustee Josephitis moved to waive the fees in the amount of $235.  Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.  
The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (4) Josephitis, Meyer, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (1) Ankenman 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

13. ITEM #8 – VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 

Village Attorney Peter Friedman had no report. 
 

14. ITEM #9 – VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 
President O’Hara reported Police Chief Belmonte urges all residents to enroll in the Village’s emergency 
notification system through CodeRED.  The CodeRED Weather Warning system automatically notifies 
those registered of severe weather.  She stated additional information regarding CodeRED is available on 
the Village’s website at lakebluff.org. 
 

15. ITEM #10 – ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 

President O’Hara introduced the correspondence from the Informational Reports on February 19, 26 and 
March 4, 2016.   
 
In response to a comment from Trustee Ankenman, Village Administrator Irvin stated the absence of the 
March 11th Informational Report will be looked into. 
 
Trustee Josephitis moved to accept the correspondence as submitted. Trustee Meyer seconded the motion.  
The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

6 
 

 
16. ITEM #13 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR CHANGES TO THE 

EXTERIOR OF THE BUILDING FOR NORTHSHORE DERMATOLOGY LOCATED AT 925 
SHERWOOD DRIVE 

 
President O’Hara reported Northshore Dermatology (Petitioner) moved into the building at 925 Sherwood 
Drive early last year and came before the ABR and the Village Board in April and May of 2015 for 
approval of signs, standing seam metal canopies, sconce lights, and other improvements to the façade of 
building.  The petitioner is requesting approval of three changes from the previous design.  They are 
proposing to separate what was previously proposed to be one long canopy on the south façade into two 
shorter canopies.  Portions of the façade that were previously proposed to be EIFS have instead been 
completed in lannon stone.  This also results in a change to the corbeling at the top of the wall. Lastly, the 
sign on the south façade is made out of plexiglass instead of the aluminum that was proposed in the 
previous submittal. The size and shape of the sign remain the same.  She further reported the ABR 
reviewed the proposed changes at its March 1, 2016 meeting and voted unanimously to recommend the 
Village Board approve the proposed changes.  In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the 
request, the neighboring property owners have been notified and a resolution has been prepared 
transmitting the ABR’s recommendation.  
 
In response to a comment from the Board, BCS Mike Croak stated the petitioner was not aware the 
proposed change from EIFS to lannon stone had to come back to the ABR for approval.  
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Ankenman moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Christensen seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 

 
17. ITEM #14 – A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING EXECUTION OF A 

SMART-READY LED STREET LIGHTING PROGRAM PARTICIPATION AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF AND COMMONWEALTH EDISON 

 
President O’Hara reported street lights throughout the Village, both the traditional neighborhood post 
lights and cobra head style lights, are owned and maintained by varying parties depending on the location.  
ComEd recently approached the Village regarding participation in the Smart-Ready LED Street Lighting 
Program.  This program involves the conversion of 217 Com-Ed-owned cobra head style street lights with 
mercury vapor and high pressure sodium fixtures to Smart-Ready LED fixtures which should reduce the 
Village’s annual energy expenses by approximately $7,300.  In addition to the energy efficiencies, other 
benefits to the LED fixtures include: (i) the ability to modify the intensity of the light, (ii) the new fixtures 
are Dark Sky at night full cut-off style (very little light trespass), and (iii) the potential for future Village 
operational control of the fixtures. 
 
President O’Hara reported the new Sustainability & Enhancement Ad Hoc Committee (SEC) discussed 
the program at their February 24, 2016 meeting and unanimously recommended the Village Board enter 
into the agreement.  The SEC also suggested the Village develop a plan to convert all remaining street 
lights to LED for both aesthetic and energy savings purposes.  
 
  



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

7 
 

 
In response to a question from Trustee Josephitis, Public Works Superintendent Jake Terlap stated the 129 
Village-owned street lights have been converted to LED.  Currently, there are 29 lights in the business 
park which will be converted to cobra head lights and approximately 23 post top lights in the Sanctuary 
that needs to be converted. 
 
Trustee Dewart asked how the bulbs relate to the ComEd franchise program. Village Administrator Irvin 
stated the LED conversion is not addressed in the franchise agreement, but an objective for ComEd to 
address energy saving programs.  The program cost is covered by ComEd users and the goal is to address 
the statutory obligation to improve their sustainability. 
 
As there were no further comments from the Board, Trustee Josephitis moved to adopt the resolution. 
Trustee Dewart seconded the motion. The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

18. ITEM #15 – A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN ANIMAL/RABIES CONTROL 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF AND THE LAKE COUNTY 
HEALTH DEPARTMENT 

 
President O’Hara reported on January 28, 1991, the Village of Lake Bluff authorized an agreement with 
the Lake County Health Department for the purpose of providing animal and rabies control services.  In 
order to improve services, such as increasing cat and dog registration compliance, the Lake County Board 
amends the agreement from time to time and asks municipalities to acknowledge and authorize any 
revisions.  The most previous revision to the contract (chiefly concerning changes to service fees) was 
approved by the Village Board in February 2008.  She further reported the revised Fee for Service 
Agreement and Animal Care and Control Fee Schedule went into effect January 1, 2016 and the Village 
is being asked to acknowledge and authorize the following revisions: (i) clarification of the type of services 
provided during and after business hours; and (ii) reduction in the fees for the pickup and impoundment 
of stray roaming cats.   
 
President O’Hara reported historically, fees incurred by the Village under this service agreement are 
minimal and typically do not exceed $500 in any one fiscal year. With the exception of the aforementioned 
amendments, the terms remain unchanged and the agreement will renew automatically until either party 
to the agreement provides a 30 day termination notice.  
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Ankenman moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Meyer seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis and Meyer  
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 

 
19. ITEM #16 – A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONSTRUCTION 

CONTRACT WITH SCHROEDER & SCHROEDER, INC OF SKOKIE, ILLINOIS, FOR THE 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF’S FY2016 PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE (PCC) 
SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT PROJECT 
 
President O’Hara reported on March 9, 2016, bids were opened in the Board Room of the Lake Bluff 
Village Hall (40 E. Center Avenue) for the Village’s FY2016 Concrete Sidewalk Replacement Project.   
A total of five bids were received. The lowest responsive bid was submitted by Schroeder & Schroeder,  



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

8 
 

 
Inc. of Skokie, Illinois, in the total amount is $28,320.00.  The Village’s FY2017-2018 Proposed Biennial 
Budget includes a total of $35,000 for the miscellaneous sidewalk replacement work which is $6,680 
greater than the low bid amount of Schroeder and Schroeder, Inc.  She further reported the remaining 
budget amount is intended to be expended by increasing the quantities of sidewalk replacement in this 
contract and other miscellaneous sidewalk repairs.  Schroeder and Schroeder has successfully completed 
numerous concrete sidewalk replacement projects for the Village in the past.   The Village Engineer is 
recommending that an award be made to Schroeder & Schroeder, Inc. in the total low bid amount of 
$28,320.00.  
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Christensen seconded the motion. The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 

 
20. ITEM #17 – A PUBLIC HEARING CONCERNING THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

PROPOSED FISCAL YEARS 2017-18 BIENNIAL BUDGET 
 

President O’Hara reported, as required by law, the Village must hold a public hearing on the Tentative 
Biennial Budget after which hearing the budget may be revised and passed without any further inspection, 
notice or hearing. Consistent with past practice, first reading of the budget ordinance will follow this 
public hearing with second reading and adoption of the budget anticipated at the next Board meeting on 
March 28th.  Notice of this hearing was published in the Pioneer Press – Lake Forester on March 3, 2016. 
 
President O’Hara declared the public hearing open. 
 
Finance Director Griffin stated this is the Village’s first time submitting a two year budget commencing 
with the period beginning May 1, 2016 and end April 30, 2018.  She presented information on the FY2017-
18 Biennial Budget noting the primary budget objectives, main types of funds, the operating and capital 
budgets (including the library funds), expenditures by category, personnel projections and the projected 
revenue sources.  She presented a slide showing the five year history of the major revenue sources and 
discussed assumptions used in developing the current year projections.   
 
 The total budget proposed for FY2017 is $13.04 million resulting in a 4.1% increase from the 

previous fiscal year; 
 The total budget proposed for FY2018 is $12.97 million resulting in a 0.5% decrease from the 

previous fiscal year; 
 The operating budget for FY2017 is $10.77 million resulting in a 1.8% increase from the previous 

fiscal year; 
 The operating budget for FY2018 is $10.966 million resulting in a 1.8% increase from the previous 

fiscal year; 
 The Library’s total budget proposed for FY2017 is $1.006 million resulting in a 7.1% increase 

from the previous fiscal year; and 
 The Library’s total budget proposed for FY2018 is $960 thousand resulting in a 4.6% decrease 

from the previous fiscal year. 
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

9 
 

 
Finance Director Griffin presented a slide showing the general fund balance revenues, expenditures, 
interfund transfers out and estimated fund balance for FY2016, FY2017 and FY2018.   
 
Finance Director Griffin presented a slide showing the proposed capital expenditures by type for FY2017 
and FY2018 and detailed the following major capital expenditures: (i) street rehabilitation and roadway 
improvements - $550,000 (FY2017 and FY2018), (ii) Moffett/E. Witchwood Sanitary Sewer - $80,000 
(FY2017) and $800,000 (FY2018), (iii) E. Prospect Sanitary Sewer - $60,000 (FY2017) and $400,000 
(FY2018), (iv) vehicles, equipment and technology replacements - $441,000 (FY2017) and $340,000 
(FY2018), (v) water meter auto read conversion - $375,000 (FY2017), (vi) W. Sheridan Place open space 
water main extension - $400,000 (FY2017), (vii) sanitary sewer lift station improvements - $198,000 
(FY2017) and $150,000 (FY2018), (viii) building maintenance and ADA improvements – $167,000 
(FY2017) and $66,000 (FY2018), (ix) pedestrian bicycle path Sheridan Road/Public Safety building 
connection - $132,000 (FY2017) and (x) corridor improvements, gateway signage and Center/Scranton 
streetscape improvements - $82,000.  
 
Finance Director Griffin stated the Water Fund retail rate is recommended to increase from $6.95 to $7.10 
per thousand gallons in FY2017 and projects to be $7.25 in FY2018 and that the CLCJAWA wholesale 
water rate is expected to increase from $2.68 to $2.73 per thousand gallons. The Water Fund policy is to 
maintain a rate that covers the wholesale rate, billing and reading costs, and annual capital maintenance.  
She concluded her presentation by sharing a chart of the 2014 property tax rates for all taxing bodies 
impacting Lake Bluff property owners.  She noted the Village represents 9% and the Library represents 
3% of the total tax bill.  The combined elementary school and high school districts account for 
approximately 60% of the total tax bill. 
 
Finance Director Griffin thanked Staff for their diligent efforts in preparing the two year budget and the 
Board for their support as we continue to work together to ensure the financial stability of the community.  
 
Trustee Josephitis asked if all the current meters would be converted to automatic read meters.  Finance 
Director Griffin stated the meters are comprised of the meter and transmitter.  Although each home is not 
required to have the interior meter replaced, the transmitter must be installed to obtain the reading.  
 
Finance Committee Chair Christensen thanked Staff for preparing the biennial budget. 
 
As there was no public comments, President O’Hara closed the public hearing. 

 
21. ITEM #18 – AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE BIENNIAL BUDGET FOR THE VILLAGE 

OF LAKE BLUFF FOR THE FISCAL YEARS COMMENCING MAY 1, 2016 AND ENDING 
APRIL 30, 2018 
 
President O’Hara reported this tentative budget, in the amount of $14,043,941 plus $1,192,218 in inter-
fund transfers for FY2017 and $13,934,293 plus $1,241,853 in inter-fund transfers for FY2018, includes 
the Village of Lake Bluff funds and the Lake Bluff Public Library funds.  
 
President O’Hara reported the operating budget (all costs except capital and contingency) for the Village 
and the Library is $10.774 million for FY2017 and $10.966 million for FY2018, both years representing 
a 1.8% increase from the previous year budget.   
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

10 
 

 
In addition, President O’Hara reported locally, the economic climate improved in the prior fiscal year as 
evidenced by the 7% rise in income tax receipts estimated for FY2016; however, there continues to be 
significant concerns regarding the state’s fiscal management and its potential effect on the municipal 
allocation of state-shared revenues such as income, sales, personal property replacement, and motor fuel 
taxes. She further reported on February 12, 2016 the Village Finance Committee discussed and 
recommended approval of this tentative budget document.  

 
As there were no comments from the Board, Trustee Christensen moved to approve first reading of the 
ordinance.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Dewart, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen   
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 

 
22. ITEM #19 – ORDINANCES ADOPTING UPDATED BUILDING REGULATIONS (Title 9 Lake 

Bluff Municipal Code) 
 

President O’Hara reported Village policy is to consider the adoption of the latest building codes every 
three to four years in order to stay current with the latest technology and best practices in the industry.  
Accordingly, Staff has prepared the attached recommended changes to Village Ordinances to adopt the 
new codes.  As was true in previous years, the model codes under consideration are published by the 
International Code Council (ICC) and the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA), or in the case of 
the Plumbing Code and the Accessibility Code, by the State of Illinois. She further reported the ABR 
discussed the proposed changes at their meetings on January 5 and February 2, and held a public hearing 
regarding the proposed changes on March 1, 2016.  The ABR heard no objections or comment from public 
at the discussions or public hearing. The technical details of the latest editions of the codes are summarized 
in the attached memo. 
 
President O’Hara reported Staff recommends the amendments to Chapter 1 (Administration and 
Enforcement) of Title IX relating to permit renewals be effective immediately after second reading in 
order to allow people to renew expiring permits in accordance with our new procedures as soon as 
possible. Approval by the State of Illinois Department of Public Health is required for the Plumbing Code 
amendments.  After the first reading of the ordinance amending the Plumbing Code, Staff will send the 
ordinance to the State for approval.  The Plumbing Code amendments will return to the Village Board for 
second reading after the State’s consideration. Staff recommends the remaining amendments, relating to 
adopting the 2015 Codes in Chapter 2-5 and Chapter 7-18, be adopted with an effective date of July 1, 
2016.  This will allow people who have already begun designs to submit under the existing codes.  
 
BCS Croak reviewed an ordinance amending the administrative and enforcement provisions of the 
Village’s Building Regulations and noted the most significant change concerns permit renewals. 
 
BCS Croak reviewed an ordinance amending Title IX of the Lake Bluff Municipal Code to adopt local 
amendments to the Illinois Plumbing Code and noted State Law requires any community that uses Lake 
Michigan water to establish plumbing code amendments requiring new plumbing fixtures to be water 
sense labeled for water conservation and to prohibit the irrigation of lawns during a six hour time period 
in the middle of the day.  Currently, Village Code prohibits watering for a five hour time period from 
12:01 to 5:00 p.m. and Staff recommends amending the irrigation hours to 11:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  In  
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

11 
 

 
addition, he stated the Plumbing Code amendments will return to the Village Board for second reading 
after it receives approval from the State.  
 
BCS Croak reviewed an ordinance comprehensively amending Title IX of the Lake Bluff Municipal Code 
to update new building, construction and development standards. Staff recommends removal of the 
amendment to the International Building Code that required fire partions to be masonry and propose the 
adoption of the 2015 International Energy Conservation Code.   
 
Trustee Dewart inquired of the use of polyethylene tubing for water supply.  BCS Croak stated the 2014 
edition of the State Plumbing Code allowed the polyethylene tubing; however, due to concerns expressed 
for the tubing Staff recommends no changes and to keep the existing Village Code amendment requiring 
copper pipes for the Village’s water supply. 
 
As there were no further comments from the Board, Trustee Ankenman moved to approve first reading of 
the ordinance amending the administrative and enforcement provisions of the Village’s Building 
Regulations.  Trustee Meyer seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 
Trustee Dewart moved to approve first reading of the ordinance amending Title IX of the Lake Bluff 
Municipal Code to adopt local amendments to the Illinois Plumbing Code.  Trustee Meyer seconded the 
motion.   
 
Trustee Josephitis moved to amend the ordinance to include the provision limiting irrigation to a six hour 
time period from 11:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  Trustee Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion passed 
on a unanimous voice vote. 
 
Following a brief discussion, first reading of the ordinances passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 

 
Trustee Josephitis moved to approve first reading of an ordinance comprehensively amending Title IX of 
the Lake Bluff Municipal Code to update new building, construction and development standards.    Trustee 
Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart and Josephitis 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 

23. ITEM #21 – TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
  
There was no Trustee’s report. 
 

24. ITEM #22 – EXECUTIVE SESSION 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting March 14, 2016 

12 
 

 
At 9:18 p.m. Trustee Christensen moved to enter into Executive Session for the purpose of discussing 
Property Disposition (5 ILCS 120/2(c)(6)) and Executive Session Minutes (5 ILCS 120/2(c)(21)).  Trustee 
Dewart seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (1) Grenier 
 
There being no further business to discuss, Trustee Ankenman moved to adjourn out of executive session.  
Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion and the motion passed on a unanimous voice vote at 10:00 p.m. 
 

25. ITEM #23 – CONSIDERATION OF THE FEBRUARY 22, 2016 EXECUTIVE SESSION 
MEETING MINUTES 
 
Trustee Christensen moved to approve the February 22, 2016 Executive Session Meeting Minutes as 
presented.  Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

26. ITEM #24 – ADJOURNMENT 
 
Trustee Ankenman moved to adjourn the regular meeting.  Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion and 
the motion passed on a unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at 10:01 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 
R. Drew Irvin      Aaron Towle 
Village Administrator     Village Clerk 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
            Agenda Item:  7a 
  
 
Subject: 

 
WARRANT REPORT FOR MARCH 16-31, 2016  

 
Action Requested: 

 
APPROVAL OF DISBURSEMENTS (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

  
Referred To: 

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of $178,429.83 for 
March 16-31, 2016. 
 
Total Expenditures of $178,429.83 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

 
1. Warrant Report for March 16-31, 2016               $ 178,429.83 (dated 3/28/16) 
  

Note that the warrant report designates those checks issued prior to the Board’s 
formal approval as manual checks “M” on the Warrant Report.  These are checks that 
are prepared in advance of the warrant due to contractual or governmental/payroll tax 
obligations; to obtain a discount; or for extenuating circumstances that may arise.  

 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   
 
Approval of Warrant in the total amount of $178,429.83 
 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/2016 
 















































VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
         Agenda Item: 8a 

 
 
Subject: 

REQUEST FROM THE LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT TO WAIVE 
BUILDING PERMIT FEES FOR THE INSTALLATION OF 
EMERGENCY LIGHTS IN THE BLAIR RECREATION CENTER 

 
Action Requested: 

 
CONSIDERATION OF REQUEST (Roll Call Vote) 

  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
On March 14, 2016 the Village received the attached letter from Lake Bluff Park District Facility 
Maintenance Services Manager, Micah Kamin, requesting a waiver of all permit fees associated 
with the installation of new emergency lights inside the Recreation Center located at 355 West 
Washington Avenue.  The Recreation Center has had emergency and exit lighting powered by a 
central battery bank.  Those batteries have worn out and the Park District has decided that it is 
more cost effective to install new emergency lights and exit signs powered by batteries at each 
individual light rather than replace the large batteries in the central battery bank. As the total cost 
of construction of this project is $11,633, it is estimated that, without a waiver, the permit fees 
for this project would be $145. 
 
Similar requests have been considered on a case-by-case basis for other non-profit and 
governmental organizations.    

Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 A Copy of the Letter Dated March 14, 2016. 
  

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Consideration of the Request. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/2016 
 









VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
         Agenda Item: 8b 

 
 
Subject: 

REQUEST FROM THE LAKE BLUFF PARK DISTRICT TO WAIVE 
BUILDING PERMIT FEES FOR THE RESURFACING OF THE 
TENNIS COURTS IN ARTESIAN PARK 

 
Action Requested: 

 
CONSIDERATION OF REQUEST (Roll Call Vote) 

  
Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
On March 10, 2016 the Village received the attached letter from Lake Bluff Park District Board 
President, Rob Douglass, requesting a waiver of all permit fees associated with the resurfacing of 
the tennis courts in Artesian Park.  As the total cost of construction of this project is $127,130, it 
is estimated that, without a waiver, the permit fees for this project would be $3,810. 
 
Similar requests have been considered on a case-by-case basis for other non-profit and 
governmental organizations.    

Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 A Copy of the Letter Dated March 10, 2016. 
  

Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Consideration of the Request. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/2016 
 





 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item:  12 

 

 
Subject: 

A RESOLUTION REALLOCATING THE 2016 VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
VOLUME CAP TO THE VILLAGE OF BUFFALO GROVE, ILLINOIS 
(HOST COMMUNITY OF THE LAKE COUNTY PRIVATE ACTIVITY 
BOND CLEARINGHOUSE)  

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
LAKE COUNTY PARTNERS 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 

Industrial Revenue Bonds (IRB), or Private Activity Bonds, are tax exempt bonds issued on behalf of 
businesses engaged in the manufacture or production of tangible personal property. Due to significant up-
front issuance costs, IRBs less than $2 million generally are not cost effective. Because of this, 
municipalities often cede their volume cap to other towns or the State of Illinois, who combine their 
resources and approve larger bond issues.  By May 1st of this year, each home rule unit with less than 
2,000,000 inhabitants must report to the Governor's Office on volume cap granted, transferred, or reserved 
by official action of the unit's governing body.  

Over the last five years the Village Board authorized the transfer of $591,185 (2011 volume cap), $543,590 
(2012 volume cap), $545,775 (2013 volume cap), $571,000 (2014 volume cap) and $570,600 (2015 volume 
cap) to the Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse Pool (“Pool”) which is hosted by the Village of Buffalo 
Grove.  Each participating community receives 0.5% fee for their cap if/when it is allocated to fund a 
project.  Please know that the Village may get additional “rollover” fees in the coming years (cap must be 
utilized by the clearinghouse within 3 years).   

On March 7, 2016 Lake County Partners approached the Village with the hope of securing the Village’s 
2016 volume cap allocation ($569,800) for the purpose of combining available funds into the Pool; the 
Village of Buffalo Grove is again serving as the Pool host home rule community.  Therefore, they will be 
the recipient of any transferred volume cap and then issue private activity bonds through the Pool to finance 
eligible projects in Lake County.  In the absence of any local business requests for use of Lake Bluff’s 
volume cap and in order to respond to the Lake County Partner’s request, Staff is providing this to the 
Village Board for consideration.  Village Staff will be in attendance to answer questions from the Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 
1. A Resolution Reallocating the 2016 Volume Cap to the Village of Buffalo Grove, Illinois; and 
2. A Letter Dated March 7, 2016 from Barbara Prusila, Economic Development Manager for Lake County 

Partners, Requesting the Village’s Participation in Lake County’s Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse 
in 2016 (with attachments). 

 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:     Consideration of the Resolution. 

 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/2016 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016- 
 

A RESOLUTION REALLOCATING 2016 VOLUME CAP 
TO THE VILLAGE OF BUFFALO GROVE, ILLINOIS 

 
WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff, Lake County, Illinois (the “Village”), is a 

municipality and a home rule unit of government duly organized and validly existing under 
Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution and laws of the State of Illinois; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, certain tax exempt private activity bonds may be issued only if sufficient 
volume cap pursuant to Section 146 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”), is available for the bonds; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the Code, the Village has been allocated volume cap equal to 
$100.00 per resident of the Village in calendar year 2016, or $569,800 for the issuance of such 
tax exempt private activity bonds; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 6 and Section 6.1 of the Illinois Private Activity Bond 
Allocation Act, 30 ILCS 345/1 et seq. (the “Bond Allocation Act”), and the Guidelines and 
Procedures promulgated hereunder, the Village may, prior to May 1, 2016, reallocate to other 
home rule units of government the volume cap allocated to the Village by the Code for their 
issuance of such tax exempt private activity bonds or for subsequent transfer or reallocation; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village has not used any of its 2016 volume cap and has no present 
intention to use the same; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Lake County Partnership for Economic Development, Inc. has offered 
Lake County home rule communities the opportunity to participate in a program to combine their 
respective volume cap allocations and create a Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse Pool (the 
“Pool”) to facilitate the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds to finance, manufacturing 
and multi-family housing commercial projects in Lake County, Illinois, for economic 
development purposes (“Eligible Projects”); and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Buffalo Grove, a home rule unit of government (“Buffalo 
Grove”), pursuant to its Resolution No. 2001-51 adopted December 17, 2001, agreed to host the 
Pool and to reserve its own volume cap, and accept volume cap reallocated to Buffalo Grove by 
other home rule units of government, for the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds 
placed through the Pool to finance Eligible Projects; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, Buffalo Grove has requested that the Village reallocate all of its 2016 
volume cap to Buffalo Grove to be used for the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds 
placed through the Pool to finance Eligible Projects. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as 
follows: 

Section 1: Pursuant to Section 6 and Section 6.1 of the Bond Allocation Act and the 
Guidelines and Procedures promulgated hereunder, the Village irrevocably agrees 
to, and does hereby, transfer and reallocate all of its 2016 volume cap to Buffalo 
Grove to be used for the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds placed 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



 

through the Pool to finance Eligible Projects as directed by the Advisory 
Committee created pursuant to Buffalo Grove Resolution No. 2001-51. 

 
Section 2: This Resolution shall constitute the agreement of the Village to a different 

allocation under Section 146(e)(3) of the Code and the writing required under 
Section 6 of the Bond Allocation Act. 

 
Section 3: The Village covenants and warrants that it has taken no action or issued bonds 

that would abrogate, diminish, or impair its ability to fulfill the written agreement, 
covenants, and undertakings on its part under this Resolution. 

 
Section 4: As required by the Bond Allocation Act and the Guidelines and Procedures 

promulgated hereunder, a certified copy of this Resolution shall be transmitted to 
the Office of the Governor of the State of Illinois.  The Village President, the 
Village Clerk, and all other proper officers, officials, agents, and employees of the 
Village are hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to take all necessary and 
advisable actions, and to execute all such documents and certificates, as may be 
necessary to further the purposes and intent of this Resolution. 

 
Section 5: The Village shall maintain a written record of this Resolution in its records for so 

long as the bonds to which the volume cap transferred by this Resolution is 
reallocated remain outstanding. 

 
Section 6: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage and 

approval as required by law and is enacted by the Village pursuant to its powers 
under the laws of the State of Illinois and the Illinois Constitution of 1970 and its 
home rule powers.  

 

PASSED this ___ day of _______, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 
 
AYES:      ()   
 
NAYS:                 () 
 
ABSENT:            ()               
 
APPROVED this __ day of _____, 2016. 
 
 
       ____________________ 
       Village President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________ 
Village Clerk 

























































VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
             Agenda Item:  13 

 
 
 
Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING  VARIATIONS FROM THE VILLAGE’S 
MAXIMUM FLOOR AREA AND SIDE YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS (611 
E. Prospect Avenue) 

 
Action Requested: 

 
SECOND READING CONSIDERATION APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
BRUCE AND JILL DANLY (Petitioners) 

 
Referred To:  

 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
On January 27, 2016 the Village received a zoning application from Bruce and Jill Danly (Petitioners), 
property owners of 611 E. Prospect Avenue, requesting variations from the Village’s maximum floor area 
regulations and the R-4 District minimum side yard setback regulations to remove and reconstruct a single 
story addition on the rear of the house to serve as a mudroom.  The house was originally built in the 1880s 
and is a legal nonconforming structure because the house:  
 

 exceeds the maximum floor area regulations by 1,000.41 sq. ft. (1,759.13 sq. ft. maximum 
allowed); and 

 encroaches into the westerly side yard setback by 0.78 ft. (5.18 ft. minimum is required). 
 
At its meeting on February 17th the Joint Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) 
conducted a public hearing and recommended the Village Board approve the following:  
 

 A variation from the maximum floor area regulations of 1,017.98 sq. ft. (or a 57.87% variation); 
and 

 A variation from the R-4 District minimum side yard setback regulations of .78 ft. (or a 15.38% 
variation)  

 
The Village Board approved first reading of the ordinance at its meeting on March 14, 2016.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 Ordinance Granting Requested Variations for 611 E. Prospect Avenue. 
 
The following document was provided as part of the March 14th Village Board Agenda Packet: 
 

 PCZBA Staff Report Dated February 12, 2016 (with attachments). 
 
PCZBA’s Recommendation:  Approval of the Ordinance.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:  Consideration of Second Reading of the Ordinance.  

Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/2016 



 
ORDINANCE NO. 2016-____ 

 
AN ORDINANCE GRANTING VARIATIONS  

FROM THE VILLAGE'S MAXIMUM FLOOR AREA AND 
SIDE YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS 

 (611 East Prospect)  
 

WHEREAS, Bruce and Jill Danly (collectively, "Applicant") are the owners of 
the property located in the Village’s R-4 Residence District ("R-4 District") at 611 East 
Prospect Avenue, Lake Bluff, Illinois, which is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto 
(“Property”); and, 

WHEREAS, on January 27, 2016, the Applicant submitted an application 
including site plans, elevations, and a plat of survey (collectively, “Application”), requesting: (i) 
a variation from the maximum floor area restrictions of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations (“FAR 
Variation”), (ii) a variation from the Village’s daylight plane height restrictions, and (iii) any other 
zoning relief as required in order to construct a single-story addition on the rear of the existing 
home on the Property (“Addition”); and,  

WHEREAS, upon reviewing the Application, Village staff determined that the 
requested variation from the Village’s daylight plane height restrictions was not required, but 
that construction of the Addition would require other zoning relief consisting of a variation from 
the side yard setback restrictions of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations (“Side Yard Setback 
Variation”); and, 

WHEREAS, on February 17, 2016, the Village’s Joint Plan Commission and 
Zoning Board of Appeals (“PCZBA”) conducted a duly-noticed public hearing to consider the 
FAR Variation and the Side Yard Setback Variation and recommended that the Village Board 
grant the FAR Variation and conditionally approved and recommended that the Village Board 
approve the Side Yard Setback Variation; and,  

 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees has determined that it would be 
in the best interest of the Village to grant the FAR Variation and the Side Yard Setback Variation 
in accordance with, and subject to, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND THE BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 

 Section 1. Recitals.  

 The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this Ordinance as the findings of the 
President and Board of Trustees.  

 Section 2. Public Hearing. 

 A public hearing to consider the applicant's request for the FAR Variation and the 
Side Yard Setback Variation was duly advertised on February 1, 2016, in The News-Sun, and 
was held by the PCZBA on February 17, 2016, on which date the PCZBA recommended 
approval of the FAR Variation and conditionally approved and recommended that the Village 
Board approve the Side Yard Setback variation. 



 Section 3.   Grant of Variations.  

Pursuant to the standards and procedures set forth in Section 10-2-4 of the Lake Bluff 
Zoning Regulations and subject to and contingent upon the conditions, restrictions, and 
provisions set forth in Section 4 of this Ordinance, the Village Board hereby grants the following 
variations: 

A. FAR Variation. A variation of approximately 1,017.98 square feet, or 57.87%, is 
hereby granted to the Applicant from the restrictions of Section 10-5-6 of the Lake Bluff Zoning 
Regulations to permit the construction of the Addition on the Property. 

B. Side Yard Setback Variation. A variation of approximately 0.78 feet, or 15.38%, is 
hereby granted to the Applicant from the restrictions of Section 10-5G-2B of the Zoning 
Regulations to permit the Addition to encroach into the required side yard setback for the 
Property.   

Section 4. Conditions of Approval.   

The findings in Section 1 and the variations granted in Section 3 of this Ordinance are 
hereby expressly subject to and contingent upon each of the conditions set forth in this Section. 

A. Compliance with Application.  The Addition, the Property and all 
operations conducted thereon must be developed, used, maintained, and located in substantial 
compliance with the provisions set forth in Section 3 of this Ordinance and the Application 
attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit B. 

B. Compliance with Applicable Law.  In addition to the other specific 
requirements of this Ordinance, the Addition, the Property, and all operations conducted thereon 
must comply at all times with all applicable federal, state, and Village statutes, ordinances, 
resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, including building, electrical, and fire prevention 
codes. 

C. Drainage from Property. As represented by the Applicant during the 
public hearing before the PCZBA, the Applicant will take all reasonable steps consistent with the 
Lake County Watershed Development Ordinance to ensure that construction of the Addition 
does not cause water to drain from the Property onto neighboring residential lots, including 
without limitation the lot to the immediate west of the Property.  

  Section 5. Failure to Comply with Conditions. 

  Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant, or any of its officers, employees, or 
agents, to comply with any or all of the conditions, restrictions, or provisions of this Ordinance, 
the variations granted in this Ordinance will, at the sole discretion of the Village Board of 
Trustees, by ordinance duly adopted, be revoked and become null and void. 

  Section 6. Binding Effect; Non-Transferability. 

  The privileges, obligations, and provisions of each and every Section of this 
Ordinance are for and will inure to the benefit of and run with and bind the Property, unless 
otherwise explicitly set forth in this Ordinance. 



  Section 7. No Third Party Beneficiaries.   

  Nothing in this Ordinance creates, or will be construed or interpreted to create, 
any third party beneficiary rights. 
 
  Section 8. Effective Date. 
 

A. This Ordinance will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 

i. Passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in 
the manner required by law;  

ii. Printing and publication of this Ordinance in the manner required 
by law; and 

iii. The filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in 
the Office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an 
unconditional agreement and consent to accept and abide by 
each and all of the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in 
this Ordinance.  The unconditional agreement and consent must 
be executed by the Applicant.  The unconditional agreement and 
consent must be substantially in the form attached hereto and 
incorporated herein as Exhibit C. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk the 
unconditional agreement and consent required by Paragraph 8.A(iii) of this Ordinance within 60 
days after the date of final passage of this Ordinance, the Village Board of Trustees will have 
the right, in their sole discretion, to declare this Ordinance null and void and of no force or effect.  

PASSED this ____ day of _________, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Lake Bluff, as follows: 

AYES:  (  )  

NAYS:  (  )  

ABSTAIN: (  )  

ABSENT: (  )  

APPROVED this ____ day of _________, 2016. 
 
 
             
       Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
     
Village Clerk 
 
 
 



FIRST READING:  March 14, 2016 

SECOND READING:         

PASSED:          

APPROVED:          

PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:        

 

#39378182_v1 



Exhibit A 
 

Legal Description of the Subject Property 
 
THOSE PARTS OF LOTS 3, 4, AND 5 IN THE OUTER CIRCLE OF LOTS IN BLOCK 
17 OF LAKE BLUFF, A SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE N. ½ OF SECTION 21, 
TOWNSHIP 44 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD P.M., ACCORDING TO 
THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED MARCH 15, 1877, AS DOCUMENT 16918, IN 
BOOK “A” OF PLATS, PAGE 95, AND OF THOSE PARTS OF LOTS 8 & 9 IN THE 
PLAT OF RESUBDIVISION OF PARTS OF BLOCK 17 IN LAKE BLUFF, A 
SUBDIVISION OF PART OF THE N. ½ OF SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 44 NORTH, 
RANGE 12 EAST OF THE 3RD P.M., ACCORDING TO THE PLAT OF SAID 
RESUBDIVISION, RECORDED OCT. 24, 1910, AS DOCUMENT 131943, IN BOOK “H” 
OF PLATS, PAGE 79, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID LOT 3, 8.50 FEET EAST OF THE N.W. CORNER THEREOF; 
THENCE SOUTH ALONG A LINE 8.50 FEET EAST OF THE PARALLEL WITH THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 3, AND WITH SAID WEST LINE PRODUCED STRAIGHT 
SOUTH, 84.90 FEET; THENCE WEST ALONG A LINE PARALLEL WITH THE NORTH 
LINE OF SAID LOTS 3, 4 AND 5, 51.60 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO A LINE 7.00 
FEET EAST OF AND PARALLEL WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID LOT 5 AND SAID 
WEST LINE PRODUCED STRAIGHT SOUTH; THENCE NORTH ALONG SAID LINE 
7.00 FEET EAST OF AND PARALLEL WITH EXTENDED WEST LINE OF LOT 5, 
84.90 FEET TO THE NORTH LINE THEREOF; AND THENCE EAST ALONG SAID 
NORTH LINE OF LOTS 5,4 AND 3, 51.57 FEET, MORE OR LESS, TO THE POINT OF 
BEGINNING, IN LAKE COUNTY, IL. 
 
PIN #s 12-21-223-019; 12-21-223-030 
 
Commonly known as 611 East Prospect Avenue, Lake Bluff, Illinois. 



Exhibit B 
 

Zoning Application and Related Documents 



Exhibit C 

Applicants' Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

WHEREAS, Bruce and Jill Danly (collectively, "Applicant") are the owners of 
the property located in the Village’s R-4 Residence District ("R-4 District") at 611 East 
Prospect Avenue, Lake Bluff, Illinois, which is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto 
(“Property”); and, 

WHEREAS, on January 27, 2016, the Applicant submitted an application 
including site plans, elevations, and a plat of survey (collectively, “Application”), requesting: (1) 
a variation from the maximum floor area restrictions of the Lake Bluff Zoning Regulations (“FAR 
Variation”) and (2) a variation from the side yard setback restrictions of the Lake Bluff Zoning 
Regulations (“Side Yard Setback Variation”) in order to construct a single-story addition on the 
rear of the existing home on the Property (“Addition”); and,  

WHEREAS, on February 17, 2016, the Village’s Joint Plan Commission and 
Zoning Board of Appeals (“PCZBA”) conducted a duly-noticed public hearing to consider the 
FAR Variation and the Side Yard Setback Variation and recommended that the Village Board 
grant the FAR Variation and conditionally approved and recommended that the Village Board 
approve the Side Yard Setback Variation; and,  

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. ___________, adopted by the President and Board 
of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _____________, 2016, (“Ordinance”) approves the 
requested Variation, subject to certain modifications, conditions, restrictions, and provisions; 
and, 

WHEREAS, Subsection 8.B of the Ordinance provides, among other things, that 
the Ordinance will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicants file with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Ordinance, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Ordinance. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Ordinance, have considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Ordinance, and agree not to challenge any such 
revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 
Village’s issuance of any permits or approvals for the use of the Property, and that the Village’s 
issuance of any such permits or approvals does not, and will not, in any way, be deemed to 
insure the Applicant against damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

4. The Applicant agrees to and hereby holds harmless and indemnify the 
Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 



any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the operation and use of 
the Property, or the Village’s adoption of the Ordinance approving the Variation. 

 
 
 
 
Dated: ____________, 2016. 
 
 
ATTEST:      BRUCE DANLY 
 
 
By:       By:        
 
Its:       Its:        
 
 
ATTEST:      JILL DANLY  
 
 
By:       By:        
 
Its:       Its:        
 
 
 
 
 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

             Agenda Item:  14 
 

Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ADMINISTRATIVE AND 
ENFORCEMENT PROVISIONS OF THE VILLAGE’S BUILDING 
REGULATIONS  

 
Action Requested: 

 
SECOND READING CONSIDERATION APPROVAL  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
VILLAGE STAFF 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Lake Bluff Village policy is to consider the adoption of the latest building codes every three to 
four years in order to stay current with the latest technology and best practices in the industry.  
Accordingly, staff has prepared the attached recommended changes to Village Ordinances to 
adopt the new codes.  As was true in previous years, the model codes under consideration are 
published by the International Code Council (ICC) and the National Fire Protection Association 
(NFPA), or, in the case of the Plumbing Code and the Accessibility Code, by the State of 
Illinois.  
 
The Architectural Board of Review (ABR) discussed the proposed changes at their meetings on 
January 5 and February 2, and held a public hearing regarding the proposed changes on March 1, 
2016.  The ABR heard no objections or comment from public at the discussions or public 
hearing.  
 
Staff recommends that the amendments to Chapter 1 (Administration and Enforcement) of Title 
IX relating to permit renewals be effective immediately after second reading in order to allow 
people to renew expiring permits in accordance with our the new procedures as soon as possible. 
The Village Board approved first reading of the ordinance at its meeting on March 14, 2016. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 A copy of the ordinance. 
 

The following documents were provided as part of the March 14th Village Board Agenda Packet: 
 

 Memo Summarizing Changes in Latest Model Code Editions; 
 2015 ICC Model Codes Summary of Important Changes; 
 Significant Changes to the 2015 International Energy Conservation Code; 
 General Summary of the Changes to the Illinois Plumbing Code; 
 IDNR letter; and  
 Changes to the 2014 National Electrical Code. 

 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Ordinance.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Ordinance. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/2016 



 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-___ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ADMINISTRATIVE AND ENFORCEMENT 
PROVISIONS OF THE VILLAGE’S BUILDING REGULATIONS 

 
 WHEREAS, Title IX of the Village Code sets forth certain regulations and 

restrictions known as the “Lake Bluff Building Regulations” (“Building Regulations”) to ensure the 
public health, safety, and welfare as affected by building construction and to secure safety to life 
and property from all hazards incident to the occupancy of buildings, structures, or premises; and, 

 WHEREAS, the general administrative and enforcement provisions of the Building 
Regulations are set forth in Chapter 1 of Title IX of the Village Code; and, 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the home rule powers of the Village, the Village Board 
desires to amend the general administrative and enforcement provisions of the Building 
Regulations: (i) make administration of the Building Regulations more efficient; and (ii) to further 
clarify the Building Regulations; and, 

 WHEREAS, the Village Board has determined that it will serve and be in the best 
interest of the Village and its residents to amend the Village Code pursuant to this Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 Section 1: Recitals.   

 The foregoing recitals are incorporated into, and made a part of, this Ordinance as 
the findings of the Village Board. 

 Section 2: Amendments to Section 9-1-5 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-1-5, titled "Building Permits,” of Chapter 1, titled “Administrative and 
Enforcement,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended 
further to read as follows: 

“9-1-5: BUILDING PERMITS: 

* * * 

F. Plat Of Survey: Every application must include five (5) four (4) copies of a 
certified plat of survey prepared, signed, and sealed by a qualified 
land surveyor licensed by the state of Illinois, showing all boundaries 
of the property, setback lines, existing structures if any, and all 
easements of record submitted with the application. 

* * * 

G. Site Plan: 

1.  Every application for a permit authorizing new construction must include 



 2 
#39731954_v1 

a fully dimensioned site plan, drawn to scale in accordance with a plat of 
survey, showing the size and location of all new construction and all 
existing buildings and structures on the site, distances of the buildings or 
structures to all property lines, and the existing grades at the corners of the 
site, at 20’ intervals along the property lines and at as many other 
locations as necessary to show the topography and drainage of the site. 
The site plan also must show the proposed final grades of the top of the 
building foundation walls, the finished site grades at all corners, the 
finished site grades at 20’ intervals along the property lines, the 
intended surface water drainage plan, all parking lots with the required 
vehicle parking stalls, all outside lighting, landscaping, utility lines, and 
other required elements. 

2.  For demolition projects, the site plan must show all buildings and 
structures to be demolished, the location and size of all existing buildings 
and structures that are to remain on the site, and all finished grades, 
stormwater drainage structures, and swales to drain the site on completion 
of the demolition work. There shall also be a tree survey submitted 
indicating the existing trees on the property and the trees that will be 
removed or impacted by the demolition project. A property restoration plan 
shall also be included with the submittal. 

3. In all cases, the requirement of a fully developed site plan may be 
modified or waived by the building commissioner in lieu of a simple plat 
plan for small building additions, accessory buildings and structures, 
demolition of minor buildings or structures, or other minor projects. 

* * * 

Section 3: Amendments to Section 9-1-9 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-1-9, titled "Time Limits,” of Chapter 1, titled “Administrative and 
Enforcement,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended 
further to read as follows: 

“9-1-9: TIME LIMITS: 

* * * 

A. Building Permits; Restoration: Any building permit issued pursuant to this 
title will be nuil null and void: 1) if the work authorized by such permit has 
not commenced within six (6) months after the date of issuance of such 
permit, or 2) if such work has begun but is suspended or abandoned for six 
(6) months or longer, or 3) if work is not completed within one year or such 
other time as may be slated in the permit for projects with a construction 
cost of $300,000 or less or within fifteen (15) months for projects with 
a construction cost of over $300,000. The building commissioner may, 
but is not required to, extend any such time limit for six (6) months for good 
cause shown, after written request for such extension and payment of a 
deposit equal to an amount adequate to cover permit renewal for at 
least six (6) months or such longer time as the Building 



 3 
#39731954_v1 

Commissioner may determine is likely to be necessary for the 
completion of construction. fee equal to fifty percent (50%) of the original 
permit fee.  The fee due shall be based on the monthly permit renewal 
fee set in the fee schedule for renewal of a permit with exterior work 
incomplete or renewal of a permit with only interior work incomplete, 
as the case may be.  The building commission may grant no more 
than two (2) such extensions.   

If a permit has expired and is not renewed, then all previous construction, 
if any, must be removed and the property restored to its 
original condition, and all fees paid therefor are forfeited to the 
village and the permit is null and void. If the permittee does not 
remove all previous construction and restore the property to its 
original condition, then the village may complete such removal and 
restoration and recover all of its costs and expenses by the filing of a 
lien on the property or by any other legal action permitted by law. Any bond 
or deposit on file for such permit shall be forfeited to the Village. 

B. Applications: Any permit application pending for more than six (6) 
months for which no permit has been issued will be returned to the 
applicant and deemed null and void. 

Section 4. Effective Date. 
 

This Ordinance shall be effective following passage by the Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Lake Bluff in the manner required by law and publication in pamphlet form in the 
manner required by law. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 

  



 4 
#39731954_v1 

PASSED this ____ day of ____ 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff, 
as follows: 

AYES:  () 

NAYS: ()   

ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: () 
 
APPROVED this _____ day of ____ 2016. 

_______________________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Village Clerk 

 
FIRST READING:  March 14, 2016 
 
SECOND READING:   
 
PASSED:    
 
APPROVED:    
 
PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:  
 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

             Agenda Item:  15 
 

Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE COMPREHENSIVELY AMENDING TITLE IX OF 
THE LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE TO UPDATE NEW BUILDING, 
CONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS  

 
Action Requested: 

 
SECOND READING CONSIDERATION APPROVAL  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
VILLAGE STAFF 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Lake Bluff Village policy is to consider the adoption of the latest building codes every three to four 
years in order to stay current with the latest technology and best practices in the industry.  
Accordingly, staff has prepared the attached recommended changes to Village Ordinances to adopt 
the new codes.  As was true in previous years, the model codes under consideration are published by 
the International Code Council (ICC) and the National Fire Protection Association (NFPA), or, in the 
case of the Plumbing Code and the Accessibility Code, by the State of Illinois.  
 
The Architectural Board of Review (ABR) discussed the proposed changes at their meetings on 
January 5 and February 2, and held a public hearing regarding the proposed changes on March 1, 
2016.  The ABR heard no objections or comment from public at the discussions or public hearing.  
 
Staff recommends that the remaining amendments, relating to adopting the 2015 Codes in Chapter 2-
5 and Chapter 7-18, be adopted with an effective date of July 1, 2016.  This will allow people who 
have already begun designs to submit under the existing codes. The Village Board approved first 
reading of the ordinance at its meeting on March 14, 2016. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 A copy of the ordinance. 
 

The following documents were provided as part of the March 14th Village Board Agenda Packet: 
 

 Memo Summarizing Changes in Latest Model Code Editions; 
 2015 ICC Model Codes Summary of Important Changes; 
 Significant Changes to the 2015 International Energy Conservation Code; 
 General Summary of the Changes to the Illinois Plumbing Code; 
 IDNR letter; and  
 Changes to the 2014 National Electrical Code. 

 
ABR’s Recommendation:    Adoption of the Ordinance.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Ordinance. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/2016 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-___ 

AN ORDINANCE COMPREHENSIVELY AMENDING TITLE IX OF THE 
LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE TO UPDATE NEW BUILDING, 

CONSTRUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
 

 WHEREAS, Title IX of the Village Code sets forth certain regulations and 
restrictions known as the “Lake Bluff Building Regulations” (“Building Regulations”) to ensure the 
public health, safety, and welfare as affected by building construction and to secure safety to life 
and property from all hazards incident to the occupancy of buildings, structures, or premises; and, 

 WHEREAS, the Building Code currently adopts by reference, with various 
modifications, certain State of Illinois and other model codes, including, without limitation, the 
2012 International Building Code, the 2012 International Residential Code for One and Two 
Family Dwellings, the 2012 International Property Maintenance Code, the 2011 National Electrical 
Code, and the 2012 International Fire Code (collectively, “Building Codes”); and, 

WHEREAS, to ensure that the Village is using the best industry standards and 
practices, the Village desires to adopt by reference, with various modifications, updated versions 
of the Building Codes; and, 

WHEREAS, under Section 1-3-2 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5/1-3-2, 
local governments may adopt all or part of the provisions of public records and any published 
compilation of rules and regulations which have been prepared by nationally recognized 
associations, including building, electrical wiring, mechanical, fuel gas systems, energy 
conservation, and property maintenance codes; and, 

WHEREAS, at least one copy of the of each of the Building Codes have been on 
file in the office of the Village Clerk for public use, inspection, and examination for at least 30 days 
preceding the adoption of this Ordinance, as required by 65 ILCS 5/1-3-2; and, 

WHEREAS, at least 30 days before the adoption of this Ordinance, the Village 
provided identification of the codes being adopted herein, by title and edition, to the Illinois Capital 
Development Board Division of Building Codes and Regulations (formerly the Illinois Building 
Commission) as required by 65 ILCS 5/1-2-3.1; and, 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the home rule powers of the Village, the Village Board 
desires to amend the Building Regulations to adopt the updated versions of the Building Codes; 
and, 

 WHEREAS, the Village Board has determined that it will serve and be in the best 
interest of the Village and its residents to amend the Village Code pursuant to this Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 

 



 2 

 Section 1: Recitals.   

 The foregoing recitals are incorporated into, and made a part of, this Ordinance as 
the findings of the Village Board. 

 Section 2: Amendments to Section 9-2-1 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-2-1, titled "Adoption of International Building Code,” of Chapter 2, titled 
“Building Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended 
further to read as follows: 

“9-2-1: ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE: 

The international building code, 2012 2015 edition, as promulgated and published 
by the International Code Council, Inc. ("international building code"), is adopted 
by reference by the village of Lake Bluff as modified in section 9-2-3 of this chapter 
for the purpose of regulating the erection, construction, enlargement, equipment, 
alteration, repair, moving, removal, demolition, conversion, use, height, area and 
maintenance of all buildings and structures in the village of Lake BluffThe 
international building code shall apply to all buildings and structures within the 
village, except for single-family detached dwellings and two-family dwellings and 
all buildings and structures accessory thereto to the extent that such dwellings are 
expressly regulated by the international residential code, as adopted by the village 
and amended pursuant to chapter 3 of this title. 

Section 3: Amendments to Section 9-2-3 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-2-3, titled "Amendments to the International Building Code,” of Chapter 
2, titled “Building Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby 
amended further to read as follows: 

“9-2-3: AMENDMENTS TO THE INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE: 

The international building code, adopted by reference pursuant to section 9-2-1 of 
this chapter is amended as set forth in this section. Subsequent section numbers 
used in this section shall refer to the like numbered sections of the international 
building code: 

* * * 

101.47 101.4.8  Add the following new section 101.4.7 101.4.8: 

"101.4.7 101.4.8 Electrical. The provisions of the 2011 2014 edition of the 
national electric code (NFPA 70) as adopted by the village and amended 
pursuant to title 9, chapter 7 of the village code ("electric code"), shall apply to 
the installation of electrical systems, including alterations, repairs, 
replacement, equipment, appliances, fixtures, fittings and appurtenances 
thereto. Every reference to the ICC electrical code in the international building 
code shall mean and refer to the national electric code." 

101.48 101.4.9  Add the following new section 101.4.8 101.4.9: 



 3 

"101.4.8 101.4.9 International Building Code Commentary. The narratives in 
the preface to international building code shall apply, as a supplement, to the 
international building code." 

* * * 

302.2  Add the following new section 302.2: 

"302.2 Separations. All A-1, A-2, A-3, A-4 and A-5, R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4 and 1-
1, I-2, I-3 and I-4 use classifications shall be separated from any use group 
classification by a minimum of a two hour U.L. listed masonry or concrete 
assembly." 

401.1 Delete section 401.1 and replace as follows: 

"401.1 Detailed Use And Occupancy Requirements. In addition to the general 
requirements of this code and the village zoning regulations (title 10 of the 
village code) governing the location, construction and equipment of all 
buildings and structures and the fire resistance ratings, height and area 
limitations as set forth in this code, the provisions of this building code shall 
control all building and structures designed for special uses and occupancies." 

425 427 Add the following new section 425 427: 

Section 425 427 Vacant Buildings 

425.1 427.1 Maintenance Of Vacant Buildings. All windows, doors, and glass 
areas of nonresidential buildings or structures, or portions thereof, that are 
vacant for a period of 14 days or more shall be treated to prevent any view into 
the interior of the building or structure by either of the following methods: 

1. The uniform use of horizontal or vertical blinds, which blinds shall be either 
white or opaque in color; or 

2. The use of professionally applied adhesive film. 

No other method to prevent any view into the interior of a vacant nonresidential 
building or structure, including without limitation the use of window soap, 
boards, paper, or plastic sheeting, shall be permitted unless approved by the 
building code official. 

503.1 Delete section 503.1, including subsections 503.1.1 through 503.1.3, and 
replace as follows: 

"503.1 General. The areas and heights of all buildings and structures in the village 
of Lake Bluff are set forth in title 10 of the municipal code ("village zoning 
regulations"), except that no building or structure may be constructed more than 
two stories nor more than 25 feet in height except for single family residences, 
schools, churches, or a municipal building. Any reference in this code to buildings 
or structures which exceed these limits shall not be applicable unless otherwise 
permitted by the village zoning regulations. Type V construction shall not be 



 4 

allowed for use groups R-1, R-2, 1-1, I-2, I-3 and I-4 and all new non 
one and two family dwelling buildings; new mixed use buildings shall 
comply. No combustible construction allowed in type III. AN new non 
one and two family residential buildings and mixed use buildings shall be of non-
combustible construction and any framing members shall be of non-combustible 
construction." 

503.1.4  Add new following new section 503.1.4 
 

“503.1.4  Non-combustible Construction 

All new buildings, other than one and two family dwellings, shall be of 
non-combustible construction.” 

* * * 

903.2.1 Add the following at the end of section 903.2 Where Required and delete 
the exception: 

"903.2.1 Automatic Fire Sprinkler System Required. 

1. Notwithstanding anything contained in this international building code to 
the contrary, in all areas of the village, automatic fire sprinkler systems must 
be installed and maintained in all newly constructed buildings. 

2. Any existing building (other than single family and two family residential 
dwellings) that undergoes any work or renovations that requires a building 
permit, has a change of use or occupancy type, or is improved with an addition 
to the building shall be required to add an approved fire sprinkler system if the 
fire sprinkler system would be required by the applicable sections of the 2015 
international existing buildings code. Except as otherwise specifically 
prescribed, complete automatic fire sprinkler systems shall also be installed 
wherever specified by this international building code. 

3. All existing non-residential buildings, mixed use buildings and multi-family 
residential buildings with more than two residential units, shall provide a 
complete automatic fire sprinkler system by January 1, 2026, except that 
existing churches (A-3 use group section 303) are exempt. 

Whenever access to a building or structure will be unduly difficult because of 
secured openings, and where immediate access will be required for life saving 
and fire protection purposes, the fire code official may require an approved key 
box to be in a readily accessible location approved by the fire code official." 

907.2 Add the following text after the existing text within Section 907.2: 

"907.2 Where Required. Notwithstanding anything contained in this international 
building code to the contrary, all newly constructed buildings, renovation and 
remodeling, change of occupant, change of ownership or additions thereto in non-
residential zoned areas of the village and mixed use buildings and other buildings 

9-2-3 



 5 

in residential zoning districts, and all newly constructed attached residential 
dwellings consisting of more than two units, or additions thereto, shall have 
installed and maintained therein, an automatic fire alarm system. Except as 
otherwise specifically prescribed, complete automatic fire alarm systems shall also 
be installed wherever specified by this code." The other sections of this code 
notwithstanding, all occupancies shall have a complete fire alarm system, 
except that rooms larger than 5,000 square feet within fully sprinklered 
buildings shall not be required to have more than one smoke detector for 
every 2,500 square feet. 

* * * 

916 917 Add a new section 916 917 as follows: 

"Section 916 917 Knox Box" 

916.1 917.1 Knox Box. All commercial buildings and residential structures with 
automatic fire alarms and/or fire sprinkler systems require a knox box. Multiple 
knox boxes may be required by the building official. The fire department shall 
approve the location of all knox boxes. 

917 Add a new section 917 as follows 915 Delete Section 915 and replace with 
the following: 

Section 917 915 Carbon Monoxide Detectors 

Section 917.1 915.1 Definitions. The following words and terms shall, for the 
purposes of this section 917.1 915.1, have the following meanings: 

Carbon Monoxide Alarm. An electrical device which meets the requirements of 
UL standard 2034 for detecting and warning individuals of the presence of 
carbon monoxide. 

Carbon Monoxide Monitor. An electrical device for detecting and warning 
individuals of the presence of carbon monoxide. These devices do not meet 
UL standard 2034 because they detect and alarm smaller quantities of carbon 
monoxide than UL 2034 allows. 

917.2  915.2  Add new section 917.2 915.2 as follows: 

"917.2 915.2 General. 

1. Carbon monoxide alarms where required by this code shall meet the 
current UL standard 2034 or its equivalent. Carbon monoxide alarms shall be 
installed per the requirements of NFPA 720 and the laws of the state of Illinois. 

2. Carbon monoxide monitors where allowed by this code shall be installed 
and maintained per the manufacturer's recommendations." 

917.3 915.3 Add new section 917.3 915.3 as follows: 



 6 

Section 917.3 915.3 Where Required. Carbon monoxide alarms are required: 

1. In any building with sleeping facilities that relies on combustion of fossil fuel 
for heat, ventilation, hot water, or fireplace within the building, and for buildings 
with attached garages, fossil fueled appliances, propane fuels, liquid type fuels 
and as required by laws of the state of Illinois. There shall be a detector locator 
in each sleeping room, within 15 feet of a sleeping room, every level of the 
building and possibly multiple detectors per level and in all mechanical rooms. 

2. In existing buildings, with sleeping facilities, that area renovated or altered 
and the work would normally require a village permit to accomplish, after 
adoption of this ordinance shall be required to install a carbon monoxide alarm 
per this ordinance. 

3.  In existing buildings with sleeping facilities that replace a furnace or hot 
water heater with a fossil fueled furnace or hot water heater or install a fireplace 
shall be required to install a carbon monoxide alarm per this ordinance. 

917.4 915.4 Add new section 917.4 915.4 as follows: 

"Section 917.4 Parking Garages. If a parking garage does not meet the 
requirements for open air parking structures (NFPA) or an open parking 
garage (section 406 of this code) or in the interpretation of the building official 
may require a system, an automatic carbon monoxide system must be 
installed as follows: 

1. The system must be connected to the NFPA 88A (parking structure) 
required ventilation system, where upon activation, the system will 
automatically turn on and exhaust fumes to the exterior; 

2. The ventilation system must have manual, key operated override for 
emergency use. The override must be capable of turning the system on when 
shut down and turning the system off if activated. The required key switch and 
proper signage will be mounted in an easily accessible area next to the garage 
entrance, in a location approved by the fire department; 

3. Ventilation systems must be tested annually and re-certified to 
manufacturers' specifications at least annually. Test results shall be forwarded 
to the fire official." 

1029.5.3 1030.5.3 Add the following new section 1029.5.31030.5.3: 

"1029.5.3 1030.5.3 Window Well Covers. A guard rail shall be provided at 
grade around all window wells, or a cover provided capable of supporting 500 
pounds." 

* * * 

1301.1 Amend section 1301.1 as follows: 

"Section 1301.1 Criteria. Buildings shall be designed and constructed in 



 7 

accordance with the 2012 2015 international energy 
conservation code, current state of Illinois energy conservation code 
and ANSI/ ASHRAE/IESNA standard 90.1." 

* * * 

2303.1 Add the following to the end of section 2303.1: 

"The exterior walls, interior partitions, floors and roofs of wood construction 
shall be designed and constructed to develop adequate strength to resist all 
vertical and lateral forces due to both dead and live loads. Standard balloon, 
braced, platform and post and beam types of construction shall be acceptable 
framing methods. Joists, studs and rafters shall not be spaced more than 16 
inches (408 mm) on center unless otherwise approved. Roof trusses in 
residential construction may be 24 inches (610 mm) on center. References to 
wider spacing in subsequent tables and sections of this chapter or the 
international building code are not applicable. Three stud corners are required 
in all wall framing." Framing differences may be applied if applicable to use of 
international green construction code or a LEED certified project and approved 
by the building official. 

2304.7.3 Add the following new section 2304.7.3: 

"2304.7.3 Minimum Roof Sheathing. Roof sheathing supported on 24 inch 
spacing is to be a minimum of % 5/8 inch thick. Roof sheathing supported on 
16 inch spacing shall be a minimum of ½ inch thick." 

* * * 

2701.2 Add the following new section 2701.2: 

Amendments To NFPA 70. The 2011 2014 edition of NFPA 70 (national 
electrical code) have been adopted for use by the village pursuant to title 9, 
chapter 7 of the village code. 

* * * 

3202  Delete section without replacement. 

3301.3 Add the following new section 3301.3: 

3301.3 Additional Site Plan Requirements. Additional site plan requirements 
are to be determined by the building official for each permit, and may include 
one or more of the following: 

1. Fencing is to be installed as listed on the approved site plan and shall 
include a gate for access and ability to enclose the site at the end of each 
working day. Commercial fencing is to be a minimum of six-foot high chain link 
fence properly supported. Residential fence is to be a minimum of a four foot 
high green construction fence type fence properly supported; 

9-2-3 9-2-3 



 8 

2. All open excavated holes and drops are to be completely encircled as a 
minimum with a four foot high safety fencing; 

3. Silt fencing is required to prevent silt from causing a nuisance to 
neighboring properties, discharge into the storm sewer system or creating a 
hazard; 

4. A construction drive shall be installed at the start of the job with a gravel 
base to provide contractor parking to the extent possible to prevent mud and 
debris from being tracked onto streets; 

5. Dirt and debris are to be kept off of street at all times a dumpster or trash 
container shall be provided throughout construction; 

6. A portable toilet shall be maintained at all times, except where the building 
owner allows use of the existing facility. The portable toilet is to be placed to 
least impact the neighbors and a minimum of 10 feet off the lot line; 

7. All side walks damaged during construction are to be replaced. In areas 
where a new home is constructed all the sidewalks along the property are to 
be replaced unless determined otherwise by the building official. Damaged 
side walks are to be replaced with a minimum of a four inch bed of compacted 
gravel and a minimum of five inch thick concrete panel. Side walk panels in 
drive areas are to be replaced with a minimum of seven inch thick concrete; 

8. Sidewalks damaged during construction shall be topped with temporary 
bituminous pavement until final concrete can be placed; 

9. Granular back fill shall be required for ail street, road edge, side- walk, 
driveway, slab, or patio areas as determined by the building official; 

10. Any street excavation shall be topped with a temporary bituminous 
pavement within 48 hours of excavation. A permanent minimum of three (3) 
inch bituminous layer, compacted in two lifts, with saw cut edges, is required 
as part of the final approval. (A road opening fee per the current fee schedule 
will be accessed if road opening is performed.); 

11. Damage to parkway or neighbors' property due to construction shall be 
repaired as soon as weather permits; 

12. Traffic and parking requirements as noted on plan are to be followed 
throughout the construction process; 

13. Temporary electric services are to be installed to prevent the use of 
generators; 

14. Tree protection is to be installed per the site plan and may include (fencing, 
wrapping of trunk, root cutting before excavation trimming limbs for access, 
feeding, aerating, and directional boring under trees with services) as well as 
requirements of the tree preservation ordinance, set forth in title 10, chapter 11 
of the municipal code; 



 9 

15. Materials are to be stored on private property, storage of materials in the 
public right of way is not permitted unless prior approval is granted by the 
village; 

16. Dust of any type is to be controlled by use of water or other forms of 
containment so not to cause a nuisance; 

17. Sump discharge is to have one or more of the following: open site 
connection, storm sewer connection, drywell or discharge to approved area on 
the property. (Sump water will not be allowed to discharge to a location that 
will cause a hazard in freezing conditions such as drives, sidewalks, or 
streets.); 

18. As-built utility drawings are required for all exterior water, sanitary, and 
storm service lines from the foundation wall of the structure being serviced to 
the point of connection with the existing service stub or existing main. The as 
built drawing is required regardless of the length of the installation of the new 
portion of the utility service; 

18.1 As-built grading drawings are required for any permitted activity that 
changes the grades on the site.  The as-built drawing must show grades 
at all lot corners, at 20’ intervals along lot lines, and at locations within 
the lot as needed to show the drainage patterns of the lot.  Lot drainage 
must be in accordance with the approved lot grades. 

18.1  The drawings must be to scale and be no smaller than 1" = 20'. The 
scale must be indicated on the submitted drawings. 

18.2 The drawing must be neat, clean and legible. Multiple service lines 
can be shown on the same drawing. 

18.2 18.3 If the approved site plans were produced on a CADD system 
then the as-built drawings must be drafted on a CADD system 

18.3 18.4 The minimum acceptable drawing size is 81/2" x 11".  Submittal 
should include a PDF file and the CADD file where applicable.   

18.4 18.5 The pipe size and type must be indicated for each service line. 

18.5 18.6 The location of the installed service line(s) must be tied to a 
minimum of two exterior property corners and two exterior foundation 
corners within an accuracy of one (1) foot. 

18.6 18.7 The locations of all fittings, cleanouts, and B-boxes must be 
identified within an accuracy of one (1) foot. 

18.7 18.8 The depth of the utility service below final grade must be 
indicated at all grade and at a minimum of every 50 feet along the length 
of each installed service. 



 10 

18.8 18.9 All prominent topographical features such as exterior build 
foundations lines, sidewalks, back of curb, edge of pavement and existing 
manholes must be indicated if these features are within 20 feet of any 
portion of the utility service line work covered by the building permit. 
 
18.9 18.10 The means of connecting the new portion of the utility line to the 
existing main or stub must be identified (coupling types, tees, wyes, etc.). 
 
18.10 18.11 The lower right hand corner of the submitted drawing must 
contain the following information: street address where the work is being 
performed; the building permit number; the date of the sketch preparation; 
the name and address and telephone number of the general contractor and 
subcontractor. 

* * * 

Section 4: Amendments to Section 9-3-1 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-3-1, titled "Adoption of the International Residential Code by Reference,” 
of Chapter 3, titled “Residential Code for One- and Two-Family Dwellings,” of Title 9, titled 
“Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended further to read as follows: 

“9-3-1: ADOPTION OF THE INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL CODE BY 
REFERENCE: 

The international residential code, 2012 2015 edition, as promulgated and 
published by the International Code Council, Inc. ("international residential code"), 
is hereby adopted by reference by the village of Lake Bluff as modified pursuant 
to this chapter. The international residential code applies to all single-family 
detached dwellings and two-family dwellings and all buildings and structures 
accessory thereto that are expressly regulated by the international residential 
code. 

Each and all of the regulations, provisions, penalties, conditions, and terms of said 
international residential code are hereby referred to, adopted, and made a part 
hereof, as if fully set forth in this code with the additions, insertions, deletions and 
changes hereinafter prescribed.” 

Section 5: Amendments to Section 9-3-3 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-3-3, titled "Amendments to the International Residential Code,” of 
Chapter 3, titled “Residential Code for One- and Two-Family Dwellings,” of Title 9, titled “Building 
Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended further to read as follows: 

“9-3-3: AMENDMENTS TO THE INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL CODE: 

The international residential code, adopted by reference pursuant to this chapter, 
is amended as set forth in this section. Subsequent section numbers used in this 
section shall refer to the like numbered sections of the international building code: 

* * * 



 11 

R301.2 Delete entire table R301.2(1) and replace as follows: 

 

 

* * * 

R313.2 Delete sections R313.2 and R313.2.1 and replace as follows: 

R313.2 One And Two Family Dwellings Automatic Fire Sprinkler Systems. 

Notwithstanding anything contained in sections R313.2 and R313.2.1 in the 
2012 2015 international residential code: 

* * * 

N1101.2 Delete section N1101.2 and replace with the following: 

N1101.2 Compliance. Compliance shall be demonstrated by meeting the 
minimal requirements of the 2012 2015 international energy conservation code 
as amended in title 9, chapter 10 of the village code or meeting the 
requirements of title 9, chapter 3 of the village code, whichever is more 
restrictive. Climate zones from figure N1101.2 or table N1101.2 shall be used 
in determining the applicable requirements from this chapter. Compliance shall 

Table R301.2(1) 

Climatic And Geographic Design Criteria 

Ground snow load 40 30 psf minimum 

Wind speed 3 second 90 normal 80 115 mph 

Seismic design category (0) but check design criteria for new 
Madrid Fault 

Weathering Severe 

Frost line depth 42 inches 

Termite Moderate to heavy Slight to Moderate 

Decay Slight to moderate 

Winter design temperature 0 degrees 

Ice shield underlayment Yes 

Flood hazard See local flood zone map 

Air freezing index 2000 

Mean annual temperature 50 degrees 



 12 

not be less than what is required by any state of Illinois energy conservation 
code. 

* * * 

Chapter 44 - Referenced Standards 

1. Delete "international plumbing code" and substitute and replace with 
"Illinois plumbing code 2004". Law as defined in section 2901.1 of the 
international building code as amended by title 9 of the village code. 

2. Delete "international electric code" and substitute replace with "NFPA 70 
2011 2014 edition". "National electric code 2011 2014 edition." 

3. Delete "international zoning code" without substitution. 

* * * 

Section 5: Amendments to Section 9-4-2 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-4-2, titled "Amendments to the International Property Maintenance 
Code,” of Chapter 4, titled “Property Maintenance Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” 
of the Village Code is hereby amended further to read as follows: 

“9-4-2: Amendments to the International Property Maintenance Code: 

The following sections of the 2012 international property maintenance code are 
hereby amended, revised, and changed as follows: 

* * * 

104.7 Add new section 104.7 as follows: 

104.7 Coordination Of Inspections. Whenever in the enforcement of this code 
or another code or ordinance, the responsibility of more than one code official 
of the jurisdiction is involved, it shall be the duty of the code officials involved 
to coordinate their inspections and administrative orders as fully as practicable 
so that the owners and occupants of the structure shall not be subjected to 
visits numerous inspectors or multiple or conflicting orders. Whenever an 
inspector from any agency or department observes an apparent or actual 
violation of some law, ordinance or code not within the inspector's authority to 
enforce, the inspector shall report the findings to the code official having 
jurisdiction. 

* * * 

303.2 Delete section 303.2 and replace as follows: 

303.2 Enclosures. Private swimming pools, hot tubs and spas, capable of 
containing water 24 inches or more in depth shall be completely surrounded 



 13 

by a fence or barrier at least 48 inches in height above the finished ground 
level measured on the side of the barrier away from the pool. Gates and doors 
in such barriers shall be self closing and self latching. Where the self latching 
device is less than 54 inches above the bottom of the gate, the release 
mechanism shall be located on the pool side of the gate. Self closing and self 
latching gates shall be maintained such that the gate will positively close and 
latch when released from an open position of six inches from the gatepost. No 
existing pool enclosure shall be removed, replaced or changed in a manner 
that reduces its effectiveness as a safety barrier. 

Exception: Aboveground spas or hot tubs with a locking safety cover that 
complies with ASTM F 1346 shall be exempt from the provisions of this section 
303.2. 

* * * 

306.1 Delete section 306.1 and replace as follows: 

306.1 General. Every exterior and interior flight of stairs having four or more 
risers shall have a handrail on one side of the stairs and every open portion of 
the stair, landing, balcony, porch, deck, ramp or other walking surface which is 
more than 30 inches above the floor or grade below shall have guards. 
Handrails shall not be less than 30 inches high or more than 42 inches high 
measured vertically above the nosing of the tread or above the finished floor of 
the landing or walking surfaces. Guards shall not be less than 30 inches high 
above the floor of the landing, balcony, porch, deck, ramp or other walking 
surface. 

* * * 

502.5 Delete section 502.5 and replace as follows: 

Section 502.5 Public Toilet Facilities. Public toilet facilities shall be maintained 
in a safe sanitary and working condition in accordance with the 2004 state of 
Illinois plumbing code, as adopted by the village and amended pursuant to title 
9, chapter 6 of the village code. Except for periodic maintenance or cleaning, 
public access and use shall be provided to the toilet facilities at all times during 
the occupancy of the premises. 

505.1 Delete section 505.1 and replace as follows: 

Section 505.1 General. Every sink, lavatory, bathtub or shower, drinking 
fountain, water closet or other plumbing fixture shall be properly connected to 
either a public water system or to an approved private water system. All kitchen 
sinks, lavatories, laundry facilities, bathtubs, and showers shall be supplied 
with hot or tempered and cold running water in accordance with the 2004 state 
of Illinois plumbing code, as adopted by the village and amended pursuant to 
title 9, chapter 6 of the village code. 

* * * 



 14 

604.3.1.1 Amend section 604.3.1.1 and replace as follows: 

604.3.1.1 Electrical Equipment. Add the following sentence at the end of the 
paragraph. All work shall also be in compliance with the 2011 2014 national 
electrical code (NFPA 70), as adopted by the village and amended pursuant to 
title 9, chapter 7 of the village code. 

604.3.2.1 Amend section 604.3.2.1 and replace as follows: 

604.3.2.1 Electrical Equipment. Add the following sentence at the end of the 
section before the exception: All work shall also be in compliance with the 2011 
2014 national electrical code (NFPA 70), as adopted by the village and 
amended pursuant to title 9, chapter 7 of the village code. 

* * * 

704.5  Delete section 704.5 and replace as follows: 

704.5  Smoke Alarms. Single or multiple-station smoke alarms shall be 
installed and maintained in groups R-2, R-3, R-4 and in dwellings not regulated 
in group R occupancies, regardless of occupant load at all of the following 
locations: 

1.  On the ceiling or wall outside of each separate sleeping area within 15 
feet of bedrooms; 

2.  In each room used for sleeping purposes; and 

3.  In each story within a dwelling unit, including basements and cellars but 
not including crawlspaces and uninhabitable attics. 

Single or multiple station smoke alarms shall be installed in other use groups 
in accordance with the international fire code and also any laws of the state of 
Illinois. 

704.6 704.5 Add new section 704.6 as follows: 

704.6 704.5 Carbon Monoxide Detectors. Single or multiple-station carbon 
monoxide detectors shall be installed and maintained in groups R-1, R-2, R-3 
and R-4 and in dwellings not regulated in group R occupancies, regardless of 
occupant load at all of the following locations: 

1. On the ceiling or wall outside of each separate sleeping area within 
15 feet of bedrooms; 

2. In each room used for sleeping purposes, and 

3. In each story within a dwelling unit, including basements and 
cellars, but not including crawlspaces and uninhabitable attics. 

Exceptions: As allowed by the state of Illinois carbon monoxide act. 



 15 

* * * 

Section 6: Amendments to Section 9-5-1 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-5-1, titled "Adoption of International Fire Code,” of Chapter 5, titled “Fire 
Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended further to 
read as follows: 

“9-5-1: ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE: 

The regulations of the 2012 2015 edition of the international fire code, as published 
by the International Code Council ("international fire code") is hereby adopted as 
the regulations governing the safeguard of life and property from the hazards of 
fire and explosion arising from the storage, handling and use of hazardous 
substances, materials and devices; and from conditions hazardous to life or 
property in the use or occupancy of existing or proposed new buildings or premises 
in the village of Lake Bluff with such amendments as are hereafter set forth.” 

Section 7: Amendments to Section 9-5-3 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-5-3, titled "Amendments to International Fire Code,” of Chapter 5, titled 
“Fire Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended further 
to read as follows: 

“9-5-3: AMENDMENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE: 

The following sections of the 2012 2015 international fire code are hereby 
amended, revised, and changed as follows: 

* * * 

609.4 609.5 Add new section as follows: 

609.4 609.5 Required Kitchen Hood Fire Suppression Systems. All required 
commercial or other occupancy kitchen exhaust hood and duct system shall 
be protected with an approved wet chemical fire suppression system installed 
and maintained per NFPA 17, and UL 300 standard. Every required automatic 
fire suppression system, when activated shall transmit a fire alarm signal to the 
village of Lake Bluff main dispatch center or a U.L. listed and approved central 
monitoring station via an approved fire alarm system. 

609.5 609.6 Add new section as follows: 

609.5 609.6 Maintenance. Commercial kitchen exhaust systems shall be 
cleaned to remove deposits of residue and grease in the system at intervals 
specified in the cleaning schedule required to be submitted in accordance with 
the mechanical code listed in chapter 47. Thorough cleaning of ducts, hoods 
and fans shall require scraping, brushing or other positive cleaning methods. 

609.6 609.7 Add new section as follows: 



 16 

609.6 609.7 Cleaning Schedule. Where a cleaning schedule is not on file, the 
code official shall require a schedule to be submitted, indicating the method of 
cleaning and the time intervals between cleanings. 

* * * 

903.3.8 903.3.9 Add new section as follows: 

903.3.8 903.3.9 Sprinkler Valve/Fire Pump Room. All new or renovated 
buildings shall enclose the fire sprinkler valve rooms and fire pump rooms 
with a minimum of an approved one hour rated fire separation enclosure. 

* * * 

907.2.11.4 Add the following to the end of the section: 
 

"2.  Group R-3 smoke alarms are to be 120 volt with a battery 
backup. 
 
3.  Smoke alarms are not required to be equipped with battery 
backup in group R-1 where they are connected to an emergency 
electrical system." 

* * * 

3305.2  Delete sections 3305.2 through 3305.9. 

Chapter 47 
Referenced Standards 
 
Chapter 47 Referenced Standards: 
 
Delete ICC electric code and insert 2011 2012 national electric code-NFPA 70. 
 
Delete international plumbing code and insert the Illinois state plumbing code. 
 
Delete the international sewage disposal code and insert Illinois state plumbing 
code. 

* * * 

Section 8: Amendments to Section 9-7-1 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-7-1, titled "Adoption of National Electric Code,” of Chapter 7, titled 
“Electrical Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended 
further to read as follows: 

“9-7-1: ADOPTION OF NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE: 

There is hereby adopted by the village the 2011 2014 national electrical code 
(NFPA 70) as hereinafter amended (hereinafter the "electrical code"). At least one 



 17 

copy of the 2011 2014 national electrical code (NFPA 70) has been on file in the 
office of the village clerk for a period of at least thirty (30) days prior to the adoption 
of these provisions and remains on file in the office of the village clerk, and is 
hereby adopted and incorporated as fully as if set out at length herein.” 

Section 9: Amendments to Section 9-7-3 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-7-3, titled "Amendments to the Electrical Code,” of Chapter 7, titled 
“Electrical Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended 
further to read as follows: 

“9-7-3: AMENDMENTS TO THE ELECTRICAL CODE: 

The following sections of the electrical code are hereby amended as set forth in 
this section. Subsequent section numbers used in this chapter shall refer to like 
numbered sections of NFPA 70: 

* * * 

225.6(B) Delete section 225.6(B) and replace as follows: 

"225.6(B) Festoon Lighting. Not permitted." 

* * * 

300.22(B) Delete the first sentence of section 300.22(B) and replace as follows: 

300.22(B) Ducts Or Plenums Used For Environmental Air. Only wiring 
methods consisting of electrical metallic tubing, intermediate metal conduit or 
rigid conduit shall be installed in ducts or plenums specifically fabricated to 
transport environmental air. 

410.16(D) Add new subsection Luminaires Required (Fixtures) In Clothes 
Closets as follows: 

"410.16(D) Luminaries In Clothes Closets. A light fixture shall be installed in 
closets." 

* * * 

Section 10: Amendments to Section 9-8-1 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-8-1, titled "Adoption of International Fuel Gas Code,” of Chapter 8, titled 
“Fuel Gas Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended 
further to read as follows: 

“9-8-1: ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FUEL GAS CODE: 

There is hereby adopted by the village the 2012 2015 international fuel gas code 
as hereinafter amended (hereinafter the "fuel gas code"). At least one copy of the 



 18 

2012 2015  international fuel gas code has been on file in the office of the village 
clerk for a period of at least thirty (30) days prior to the adoption of these provisions 
and remains on file in the office of the village clerk, and is hereby adopted and 
incorporated as fully as if set out at length herein.” 

Section 11: Amendments to Section 9-8-2 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-8-2, titled "Amendments to the Fuel Gas Code,” of Chapter 8, titled “Fuel 
Gas Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended further 
to read as follows: 

“9-8-2: AMENDMENTS TO THE FUEL GAS CODE: 

The following sections of the fuel gas code are hereby amended as set forth in this 
section. Subsequent section numbers used in this chapter shall refer to like 
numbered sections of the fuel gas code: 

* * * 

108.5 Delete section 108.5 and replace as follows: 

"108.5 Stop Work Orders. Upon notice from the code official that mechanical 
work is being done contrary to the provisions of this code or in a dangerous or 
unsafe manner, such work shall immediately cease. Such notice shall be in 
writing and shall be given to the owner of the property, or to the owner's agent, 
or to the person doing the work, or shall be posted on the property where 
the work is being done. The notice shall state the conditions under which 
work is authorized to resume. Where an emergency exists, the code official 
shall not be required to give a written notice prior to stopping the work. Any 
person who shall continue to work on the system after having been served with 
a stop work order, except such work as that person is directed to perform to 
remove a violation or unsafe condition, shall be liable for penalties as set forth 
in section 9-1-22 of this title." 

* * * 

Section 12: Amendments to Section 9-10-1 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-10-1, titled "Adoption of Codes,” of Chapter 10, titled “Energy 
Conservation Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby 
amended further to read as follows: 

“9-10-1: ADOPTION OF CODES: 

“There is hereby adopted by the village the 2012 2015 international energy 
conservation code and the ANSI/ASHRAE/IESNA standard 90.1-2010 energy 
standard for buildings as hereinafter amended (hereinafter the "energy code"). The 
provisions of the Illinois energy conservation act, 20 Illinois Compiled Statutes 
1115/1 et seq., and the regulations adopted hereunder, shall apply to all buildings 
as specified in the act and all buildings in the village of Lake Bluff including 
residential structures. At least one copy of the 2012 2015  international energy 



 19 

conservation code has been on file in the office of the village clerk for a period of 
at least thirty (30) days prior to the adoption of these provisions and remains on 
file in the office of the village clerk, and is hereby adopted and incorporated as fully 
as if set out at length herein.” 

Section 13: Amendments to Section 9-10-2 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-10-2, titled "Amendments, Revisions, Changes,” of Chapter 10, titled 
“Energy Conservation Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby 
amended further to read as follows: 

“9-10-2: AMENDMENTS, REVISIONS, CHANGES: 

The following sections of the 2012 2015 international energy conservation code 
are hereby added, amended, revised, and changed as follows:” 

* * * 

Section 14: Amendments to Section 9-11-1 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-11-1, titled "Adoption of Code,” of Chapter 11, titled “Mechanical Code,” 
of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended further to read as 
follows: 

“9-11-1: ADOPTION OF CODE: 

“There is hereby adopted by the village the 2012 2015  international mechanical 
code, as hereinafter amended (hereinafter the "mechanical code"). At least one 
copy of the 2012 2015  international mechanical code has been on file in the office 
of the village clerk for a period of at least thirty (30) days prior to the adoption of 
these provisions and remains on file in the office of the village clerk, and is hereby 
adopted and incorporated as fully as if set out at length herein. ” 

Section 15: Amendments to Section 9-11-2 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-11-2, titled "Amendments, Revisions, Changes,” of Chapter 11, titled 
“Mechanical Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended 
further to read as follows: 

“9-11-2: AMENDMENTS, REVISIONS, CHANGES: 

The following sections of the 2012 2015 international mechanical code are hereby 
amended, revised, and changed as follows: 

* * * 

108.5 Delete section 108.5 and replace as follows: 

108.5 Stop Work Orders. Upon notice from the code official that mechanical 
work is being done contrary to the provisions of this code or in a dangerous or 
unsafe manner, such work shall immediately cease. Such notice shall be in 



 20 

writing and shall be given to the owner of the property, or to the owner's agent, 
or to the person doing the work, or posted on the property where the work 
is being done. The notice shall state the conditions under which work is 
authorized to resume. Where an emergency exists, the code official shall not 
be required to give a written notice prior to stopping the work. Any person who 
shall continue to work on the system after having been served with a stop work 
order, except such work as that person is directed to perform to remove a 
violation or unsafe condition, shall be liable for penalties as set forth in 
section 9-1-22 of this title. 

* * * 

Section 16: Amendments to Section 9-12-1 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-12-1, titled "Recommended Green Building Standards,” of Chapter 12, 
titled “Green Building Guidelines,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is 
hereby amended further to read as follows: 

“9-12-1: RECOMMENDED GREEN BUILDING STANDARDS: 

The village highly encourages the use of "green" or sustainable building practices. 
As such, the village has identified the 2012 2015  international green construction 
code as a useful minimum standard for permit applicants who wish to follow green 
building practices. Those persons who desire to use sustainable building practices 
are encouraged to use the 2012 2015  international green construction standard 
or to consult with the code official to identify other appropriate sustainable building 
standards for either residential or nonresidential building projects.” 

Section 17: Amendments to Section 9-15-1 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-15-1, titled "Adoption of International Swimming Pool and Spa Code,” of 
Chapter 15, titled “Swimming Pool and Spa Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the 
Village Code is hereby amended further to read as follows: 

“9-15-1: ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL SWIMMING POOL AND SPA 
CODE: 

There is hereby adopted by the village the 2012 2015  international swimming pool 
and spa code (hereinafter the "swimming pool code"). At least one copy of the 
2012 2015  international swimming pool and spa code has been on file in the office 
of the village clerk for a period of at least thirty (30) days prior to the adoption of 
these provisions and remains on file in the office of the village clerk, and is hereby 
adopted and incorporated as fully as if set out at length herein. 

The state of Illinois has promulgated rules and regulations for public swimming 
pools, spas and beaches under Illinois administrative code title 77 chapter 1 
subchapter n part 820. Additional references to this can be found under 210 Illinois 
Compiled Statutes 125 et seq. The adoption of the 2012 international swimming 
pool and spa code does not supersede the state of Illinois rules and 
regulations/laws unless the swimming pool code is more restrictive in 
requirements.” 



 21 

Section 18: Amendments to Section 9-16-1 of the Village Code.   

 Section 9-16-1, titled "Adoption of International Existing Building Code,” of Chapter 
165, titled “Existing Building Code,” of Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is 
hereby amended further to read as follows: 

“9-16-1: ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL EXISTING BUILDING CODE: 

There is hereby adopted by the village the 2012 2015 international existing building 
code and as amended hereafter. At least one copy of the 2012 2015 international 
existing building code has been on file in the office of the village clerk for a period 
of at least thirty (30) days prior to the adoption of these provisions and remains on 
file in the office of the village clerk, and is hereby adopted and incorporated as fully 
as if set out at length herein.”  

Section 19: Amendments to Title IX of the Village Code.   

 Title 9, titled “Building Regulations,” of the Village Code is hereby amended further 
to add a new Chapter 18 to read as follows: 

“Chapter 18 
STORMWATER DRAINAGE 

 
9-18-1: ADOPTION OF CHAPTER 11 OF THE ILLINOIS PLUMBING LAW: 
 
Chapter 11 of the 2015 International Plumbing Code is hereby adopted as 
amended hereafter to regulate storm water drainage. 
 
9-18-2: AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 11 OF THE INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING 
CODE: 
 
The following sections of the fuel gas code are hereby amended as set forth 
in this section. Subsequent section numbers used in this chapter shall refer 
to like numbered sections of the fuel gas code: 
 
Section 1101.9 shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 
 

1101.9 All new storm direct connections to the main shall be cored and 
installed with a core and T boot. 

 
Add new section, Section 1101.10 as follows: 
 

All directionally bored storm lines shall be inspected after installation by 
use of a video camera supplied by the contractor to verify integrity and 
proper pitch of the pipe.  Village inspector to be on site at the time the 
video is taken. 

 
Add new section, Section 1101.11 as follows: 
 



 22 

All new storm sewer pipe below grade shall be bedded in granular 
material approved by the Village.  Granular material is required to be 
installed to a level 4” above the pipe from a level 2” below the pipe. 

 
Section 1102 Materials shall be deleted and replaced with the following: 
 

1102.1 Pipe used for storm water drainage shall be of one of the following 
materials or approved equal: 
 
Cast Iron Pipe (Hub & Spigot) ASTM A74, CISPI HS 74, C564 
 
HDPE Polyethylene smooth interior wall plastic pipe ASTM F2648 (for use 
outside of paved areas only) 
 
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) SDR 26 ASTM 3034 
 
Polyvinyl Chloride Schedule 40, ASTM 2665 
 
Concrete Pipe, Reinforced 

 
Cellular core pipe is not permitted.” 

 
Section 20. Effective Date. 

 
This Ordinance shall be effective after following passage by the Board of Trustees 

of the Village of Lake Bluff in the manner required by law and publication in pamphlet form in the 
manner required by law, but in no event sooner than July 1, 2016. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 

  



 23 

PASSED this  ____day of ____ 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff, 
as follows: 

AYES:  () 

NAYS: ()   

ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: () 
 
APPROVED this  _____day of ____ 2016. 

_____________________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Village Clerk 
 
#39737972_v2 

 

 
FIRST READING:  March 14, 2016 
 
SECOND READING:   
 
PASSED:    
 
APPROVED:    
 
PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:  
 

 

 



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             

                               Agenda Item: 16 

 
Subject: 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 2016-2017 
OFFICIAL PAY PLAN 

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF RESOLUTION (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
 
Attached is a Resolution approving the Village of Lake Bluff Official Pay Plan (Pay Plan) for Fiscal Year 
beginning May 1, 2016.  This document, which is updated annually, establishes the authority and official 
guidelines by which the Village Administrator may appoint, promote, evaluate and compensate all Village 
employees except those employees subject to one of the three collective bargaining agreements (Police 
Sergeants, Police Officers, and Public Works unions). 
 
A main component of the Pay Plan is the schedule of salary ranges for the various Village positions.  
Consistent with Village policy to maintain non-union salary levels at or above the average of those in the 
competitive market, the proposed schedule reflects a market adjustment of 5% over the previously approved 
salary range maximums for only the following positions: Asst. Finance Director, PW Superintendent, Asst. to 
Village Administrator, Building Codes Supervisor, Deputy and Chief of Police, Finance Director and Village 
Engineer. Please know that actual employee pay increases are contingent on performance evaluations. 
 
The Fiscal Year 2017 Annual Budget includes a 2.5% pool for non-union salary adjustments.  At their March 
14th meeting the Finance Committee reviewed the schedule of salary ranges, the actual current salaries with a 
survey of comparable communities, and recommends approval of the Pay Plan. The Pay Plan reflects 
compensation levels for all authorized positions. In accordance with the Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 
120/7.3) the most recent Compensation Program (attached) has been posted on the Village’s website since 
March 3, 2016.  At its March 14th meeting the Finance Committee reviewed and recommended Village Board 
approval of the Pay Plan.  Staff will be available to respond to questions from the Village Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 

1. Resolution Approving the Village of Lake Bluff 2016-2017 Official Pay Plan; 
2. Village of Lake Bluff Proposed 2016-2017 Official Pay Plan; 
3. Proposed Salary Ranges for Village Employees; and 
4. Village Staff Compensation Program. 

 
Finance Committee’s Recommendation:               Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/2016 



RESOLUTION 2016- 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE VILLAGE OF  
LAKE BLUFF 2016-2017 OFFICIAL PAY PLAN 

 
 WHEREAS, the Village's Official Pay Plan establishes the authority and official guidelines by 

which the Village Administrator may appoint, promote, evaluate and compensate all Village employees except 
those employees subject to collective bargaining agreements; and, 
 

 WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff endeavors to adequately and fairly compensate its 
employees; and, 
 

 WHEREAS, the Village Administrator and Finance Committee recommend approval of the 
2016-2017 Official Pay Plan, which is attached to and incorporated into this Resolution as Exhibit A; and, 

 
 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees have determined that it is in the best interest 

of the Village to adopt the 2016-2017 Official Pay Plan in accordance with, and subject to, the terms of this 
Resolution.  
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, COUNTY OF LAKE AND STATE OF ILLINOIS, as follows: 
 
  Section 1. Recitals.  
 
  The foregoing recitals are incorporated into, and made a part of, this Resolution as the 
findings of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village.  
 
  Section 2. Approval of 2016-2017 Official Pay Plan.  
 
  The Village of Lake Bluff 2016-2017 Official Pay Plan, attached to and incorporated into this 
Resolution as Exhibit A, is approved, and the Village Administrator is authorized and directed to implement 
the 2016-2017 Official Pay Plan as of May 1, 2016. 
 

Section 3.   Effective Date.   

  This Resolution will be in full force and effect following its passage and approval in the manner 
required by law. 
 
PASSED this ____ day of March, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff as 
follows: 
 
AYES:  (0)                  
 
NAYS:   (0)    
 
ABSENT: (0)   
 
 
APPROVED this ____ day of March, 2016. 
 
       _____________________________ 

Village President  
ATTEST:        
 
 
____________________________ 
Village Clerk 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



 2

 
Exhibit A 

 
Village of Lake Bluff 2016-2017 Official Pay Plan 























 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
                               Agenda Item: 17 

 
Subject: 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE I OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF REGARDING THE COMPREHENSIVE FEE 
SCHEDULE 

Action Requested: FIRST READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 

Originated By: FINANCE COMMITTEE 

Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
 
As part of the budget development process, the Finance Committee reviews the comprehensive fee schedule.  
At the March 14, 2016 Finance Committee meeting, the members recommended the following changes to the 
comprehensive fee schedule: 
 
Construction/Building Fees: (page 4 of the Ordinance) 

 Building permit renewal fee for interior only activity from 50% of original permit fee to $100 per month; 
and 

 Building permit renewal fee for exterior and all other building/site activity from 50% of original permit 
fee to $200 per month. 

 
This fee was originally in Section 9-1-9A of the Municipal Code and has been deleted from this Section pursuant 
to the “Ordinance Adopting Updated Building Regulations” (first reading approval at the March 14th Board 
meeting.) The permit renewal fee is being included in Section 1-12-3 of the Municipal Code (the Comprehensive 
Fee Schedule.) 
 
User Charges and Connection Fees: (page 16 of the Ordinance) 

 Adjust water rate for properties within Village limits from $6.95 to $7.10/1,000 gallons; and 
 Adjust water rate for properties outside of the Village limits from $7.99 to $8.17/1,000 gallons. 

 
The water rate is revised pursuant to the multi-year rate projections developed to adequately cover the operating 
and capital costs.   
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 Village’s Comprehensive Fee Ordinance with the Recommended Adjustments Highlighted. 
 
Finance Committee’s Recommendation:  First Reading Approval of the Ordinance. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:    First reading approval of the ordinance.  
 

Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/2016 



 

1 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2016- 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 1 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE  
REGARDING THE COMPREHENSIVE FEE SCHEDULE 

 
WHEREAS, all Village fees and charges are set forth in the Village's Comprehensive Fee 

Schedule, codified as Section 1-12-3 of the Municipal Code, for ease of reference and administrative 
purposes; and, 

WHEREAS, the Village Administrator and the Finance Committee have reviewed fees and 
charges to ensure that the rates are commensurate with either the best interest of the Village or with 
inflation, and otherwise reasonably approximate the Village’s costs and expenses in providing the Village 
service; and,  

WHEREAS, the Village Administrator and the Finance Committee recommend that the fees 
and charges for water usage be established at a rate that is necessary to adequately fund the operating and 
capital costs to purchase and deliver potable water; and, 

WHEREAS, the Village Administrator and the Finance Committee further recommend that 
the fees and charges for water usage for residents be set at $7.10 and for non-residents at $8.17 per 
thousand gallons of usage effective May 1, 2016; and, 

WHEREAS, Section 9-1-9A of the Municipal Code entitled “Building Permits; Restoration” 
allows the building commissioner to extend the time limit for expired building permits upon payment of a fee; 
and,  

WHEREAS, the Village Administrator and the Finance Committee recommend that the fees 
for building permit renewals for expired permits be incorporated into Section 1-12-3 of the Municipal Code 
and be set at $100 per month for permits that comprise interior work only and $200 per month for all other 
building permit renewals; and, 

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees have determined that it is in the best 
interest of the Village to adjust certain fees and charges for Village services, as set forth in this Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows:  

Section 1. Recitals.  

The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein as the findings of the President and Board of 
Trustees.  

Section 2. Amendment to Section 1-12-3 of the Municipal Code  

Section 1-12-13, entitled "Schedule of Fees, Charges and Rates," of Chapter 12, entitled 
“Comprehensive Fee Schedule,” of Title 1, entitled “Administration,” of the Municipal Code shall be and it is 
hereby amended in its entirety so that Section 1-12-3 shall hereafter be and read as follows (additions are 
bold and underlined and deletions are struck through):  

“1-12-3:  SCHEDULE OF FEES, CHARGES AND RATES:  

 
ADMINISTRATIVE FEES  
 



 

2 

Description   Amount   

Municipal 
Code Provision 

  

Budget   $  25.00     

Building code   10.00   Title 9, chapters 
1 through 9   

Comprehensive plan   25.00     

Documents and records:     1-10-2   

  Deposit for microfilm records   150.00 per week     

  For all documents or records copied in response to an 
FOIA request:   

  Ord. 2010-1; 5 
ILCS 140/1 et 
seq.   

    8.5" x 11" or 8.5" x 14" (black and white), first 50 pages 
  

No charge     

    8.5" x 11" or 8.5" x 14" (black and white), each page 
after first 50 pages   

$0.15 per side     

    11" x 17" (black and white)   0.50 per page     

    8.5" x 11", 8.5" x 14", or 11" x 17" (color)   Costs incurred     

    Certification of documents/records   $1.00 per document 
(plus copying cost)   

  

    Electronic records      

   Non-voluminous requests Cost Incurred  

   Voluminous Requests (PDF format) •$20 for up to 80 
megabytes of data 
• $40 for more than 80 
but not more than 160 
megabytes of data 
•$100 for more than 160 
megabytes of data 

 

   Voluminous Requests (Non-PDF Format) •$20 for up to 2 
megabytes of data 
•$40 for more than 2 but 
not more than 4 
megabytes of data 
•$100 for more than 4 
megabytes of data 

 

    Use of an outside vendor to produce requested 
documents   

Cost incurred     

    Fine for FOIA violations   $750.00 for each 
violation   

  



 

3 

  For records requested by a commercial requestor, time 
in excess of eight hours spent to search for, examine 
for redactions, or retrieve requested records 

$10.00/hour  

Land use maps   $ 5.00     

Sign regulations   10.00   Title 10, chapter 
10   

Subdivision title   25.00   Title 11   

Tree regulations   10.00   Title 10, chapter 
11   

Zoning title   25.00   Title 10   

 
 
ALARM FEES  
 

Description   Amount   
Municipal 

Code Provision   

Annual registration:     5-6-8   

  Within the village limits   $ 25.00     

  Outside the village limits   50.00     

Directly connected alarm fees:     5-6-8   

  Initial connection fee   125.00     

  Onetime relay deposit fee   150.00     

  Single-family residence within the village limits  50.00     

  Other property within the village limits   75.00     

  All property outside the village limits   Set by contract    

False alarm fees:     5-6-10A   

  1 to 4 false alarms   No charge     

  5th false alarm   $ 50.00     

  6th false alarm   100.00     

  7th false alarm   100.00     

  8th false alarm   100.00     

  9th false alarm   150.00     

  10th false alarm or more   250.00     



 

4 

 
CONSTRUCTION/BUILDING FEES  
 

Description   Amount   

Municipal 
Code 

Provision   

Construction permit1, unless 
otherwise listed   

$30.00 per $1,000.00 of construction cost   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Building Permit, Restoration (renewal 
for expired permit) 

$100 per month for interior only building activity 
$200 per month for all other building/site activity 

Title 9, chapter 
1, para. 9A 

Plumbing permit   $25.00 application fee, plus $10.00 per $1,000.00 
of construction cost   

Title 9, chapter 
1  

Electric permit   $25.00 application fee, plus $10.00 per $1,000.00 
of construction cost   

Title 9, chapter 
2  

Heating and air conditioning   $25.00 application fee, plus $10.00 per $1,000.00 
of construction cost   

Title 9, chapter 
1  

Replacement siding, exterior doors, 
and windows permit   

$50.00 application fee, plus $10.00 per $1,000.00 
of construction cost   

Title 9, chapter 
2  

Building permit fee reduction for 
landmark designated structures   

Reduction of 25% of total building permit fee     

Building permit fee reduction for 
certified landmark designated 
structures   

Reduction of 50% of total building permit fee     

Elevator plan review and inspection   Village cost   Title 9, chapter 
2  

Residential fire sprinkler plan review 
and inspection   

$150.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Fence installation:     10-9-1   

  New fence   50.00     

  Replacement fence   25.00     

New or replacement patio, sidewalk, 
driveway, private roadway, and 
parking lot permit   

$25.00 application fee, plus $10.00 per $1,000.00 
of construction cost, $50.00 minimum   

7-1-12E1, E2   

Demolition tax for principal residential 
structures   

$10,000.00   1-8I-2   

Demolition tax for landmark 
designated structures   

12,500.00     

Demolition tax for certified landmark 
designated structures   

15,000.00     



 

5 

Demolition permit2:     9-1-18   

  Principal structures:       

    Up to and including 500 
square feet3   

$1.00 per square foot     

    501 square feet through 2,500 
square feet   

$1.00 per square foot for the first 500 square feet, 
plus $2.00 for each square foot from 501 through 
2,500   

  

    2,501 square feet and above   $1.00 per square foot for the first 500 square feet, 
plus $2.00 for each square foot from 501 through 
2,500, plus $0.50 for each square foot from 2,501 
and above   

  

  Accessory structures:     9-1-18   

    150 square feet through 500 
square feet   

$0.50 per square foot     

    501 square feet through 1,000 
square feet   

$0.50 per square foot from 150 through 500, plus 
$1.00 for each square foot from 501 through 1,000 
  

  

    1,001 square feet and above   $0.50 per square foot from 150 to 500, plus $1.00 
for each square foot from 501 through 1,000, plus 
$0.25 for each square foot from 1,001 and above   

  

Roofing permit   $25.00 application fee, plus $10.00 per $1,000.00 
of construction cost, $50.00 minimum fee   

Title 9, chapter 
2  

Reinspections   $150.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Occupancy certificate   250.00   10-2-3B3   

  Copy of original certificate   1.00   10-2-3B4   

Building department plan review (only 
applies when plans are reviewed and 
no permit is issued)   

200.00   Title 9, chapter 
2  

Plan review deposit   $200.00 for plans that are $20,000.00 or more in 
construction value and $100.00 for plans under 
$20,000.00 in construction value   

Title 9, chapter 
2  

Fire department plan review (multi-
family and commercial only)   

$    50.00   Title 9, chapter 
2  

Septic system permit   2,500.00   8-2-1B2   

Street opening permit   550.00   7-1-8C, 9-3-
2(R106.2)   

Street tunneling permit   100.00   7-1-8C   

Sidewalk opening permit   110.00   7-1-8C   



 

6 

Swimming pool installation permit   330.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Aboveground pool/spa   330.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Inground pool/spa (no structures or 
enclosures)   

350.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Pools and spas (which include 
structures)   

$30.00 for each $1,000.00 of construction value 
(minimum of $400.00)   

Title 9, chapter 
1  

Moving license   $5,000.00   9-1-16   

Lawn irrigation system installation 
permit   

330.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Water tap permit   25.00   8-1A-2A2   

Water taps   100.00   8-1A-2A2   

Water meter and accessories   Costs incurred, plus 10%   8-1A-3   

Satellite/antenna dish review   $25.00     

Special inspections (i.e., veterans' 
affairs, FHA)   

$125.00 per inspection   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Security systems   $25.00 per permit and $10.00 per $1,000.00 of 
construction value for an electrical permit 
(minimum of $50.00)   

Title 9, chapter 
1  

New construction and/or large scale 
renovation 15,000 or more square 
feet, life safety review   

$0.005 per square foot (minimum of $250.00)   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Small scale tenant finish or 
renovation less than 15,000 square 
feet, life safety review   

$150.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Automatic fire extinguishing systems, 
NFPA 13 or 13R   

$100.00 plus $3.00 per sprinkler head (minimum of 
$200.00)   

Title 9, chapter 
1  

Automatic fire extinguishing systems, 
combination preaction/clean agent   

$450.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Automatic fire extinguishing systems, 
other fire suppression systems (wet 
chemical, etc.)   

250.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Standpipe systems   200.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Fire pumps and related equipment   200.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Compressed gases, system 
installations   

100.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  



 

7 

Flammable and combustible liquids 
tank installation and/or process 
installation   

100.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Hazardous materials uses   100.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

LP gas installations   100.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Private fire hydrants review   100.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Fire alarm systems and related 
equipment   

$5.00 per device (minimum of $100.00)   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Fire alarm panel replacement   $250.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Small scale tenant fire alarm 
renovation   

100.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

Tents and air supported structures   25.00   Title 9, chapter 
1  

 
 
DEVELOPMENT FEES  
 

Description   Amount   

Municipal 
Code 

Provision   

Preannexation, per filing   $500.00 per acre or fraction 
thereof (plus additional costs 
incurred by the village)4   

  

Annexation of territory   $1,000.00 per acre or fraction 
thereof (plus additional costs 
incurred by the village)5   

  

Appeals to administrative decisions/rebuttals to board 
and commission recommendations   

$100.00     

Architectural board of review:       

  Minor improvements to existing sites/structures or 
concept review   

$100.00, plus additional costs 
incurred   

9-13-5   

  Major improvements, per structure or type of 
structure   

$300.00, plus additional costs 
incurred   

9-13-5   

  Sign review, per sign   $150.00, plus additional costs 
incurred   

10-10-17   

Site plan approval application   $300.00, plus an amount 10-2-8A   



 

8 

determined by the village 
administrator to reimburse the 
village for all anticipated out of 
pocket expenses incurred in 
connection with the delivery of 
notice pursuant to section 10-2-8of 
this code   

Subdivisions and planned developments:       

  Filing fee for preliminary plat of subdivision 
application, no plan commission review   

$250.00 per subdivision   11-3-1   

  Filing fee for preliminary plat of subdivision 
application, with plan commission review   

$250.00 per subdivision   11-3-1   

  Tentative and final plat of subdivision (prior to 
recording by village)   

$1,000.00 (plus additional costs 
incurred by the village)6   

11-3-2   

  Application filing fee for planned development   $150.00 per acre or fraction 
thereof   

10-5J-4B1   

  Planned development   $2,000.00 (plus additional costs 
incurred by the village)6   

Title 10, 
chapter 5, 
article J   

  Tentative and final plat for planned development 
(prior to recording by the village)   

$1,000.00 (plus additional costs 
incurred by village)6   

10-5J-4B1   

  Tree permit application review (see permit fees of 
this section for tree permit fees):   

  10-11-6E   

  1.    Development of a vacant lot   $450.00     

  2.    Structure demolitions   525.00     

  3.    Room additions   275.00     

  4.    Driveway installations   150.00     

  5.    Installations (pools, tennis courts, sport 
courts)   

195.00     

  6.    Fence and shed installations   125.00     

  7.    Deck and patio installations   140.00     

  8.    Irrigation system installations   125.00     

Tree replacement mitigation fee   $150.00 per each 1 inch caliper of 
replacement trees that are not 
being planted on the subject 
property at the full replacement 
rate that would otherwise be 
applicable   

10-11-7G2   

Watershed development regulations review7,8:     12-1-1   



 

9 

  1.   Sediment and erosion control only:       

    a. Single-family home/ 
development under 5 acres   

$  150.00     

    b. Single-family home/ 
development under 5 acres with floodplain 
or wetlands   

200.00     

    c. Development 5 acres or more   350.00     

  2.   Minor development without detention   700.00     

  3.   Minor development with detention   1,400.00     

  4.   Major development (stream bank/shoreline 
stabilization)   

300.00     

  5.   Major development (detention, no 
floodplain)   

1,950.00     

  6.   Major development (grading in floodplain, 
no detention)   

400.00     

  7.   Major development (with floodplain under 
100 acres tributary)   

2,700.00     

  8.   Major development (with floodplain 100 to 
200 acres tributary)   

4,350.00     

  9.   Major development (with floodplain over 
200 acres tributary)   

5,500.00     

  10.   Floodplain/floodway accessory structure 
review   

100.00     

  11.   Public road development (detention and 
floodplain modeling)   

1,550.00     

  12.   Public road development (with detention 
and/or floodplain impact)   

1,050.00     

  13.   Public road development (no detention)   600.00     

  14.   Wetland, jurisdictional determination   350.00     

  15.   Wetland, no impact determination   300.00     

  16.   Wetland category I permit (single-family)   150.00     

  17.   Wetland category I permit (nonsingle-
family)   

900.00     

  18.   Wetland category II permit   1,250.00     

  19.   Wetland category III permit   1,300.00     

  20.   Wetland category IV permit (less than 1 500.00     



 

10 

acre)   

  21.   Wetland category IV permit (greater than or 
equal to 1 acre)   

1,000.00     

  22.   Resubmittals   1/3 of base fee     

  23.   FEMA map revisions   $1,250.00     

Zoning board of appeals:     2-5-3F,10-2-
6   

  Appeal of interpretation of zoning regulations 
pursuant to state statutes   

150.00     

  Variations:       

    Requiring only zoning board of appeals 
approval, per filing   

$500.00, plus additional costs 
incurred by the village   

  

    Requiring village board approval, per filing   $750.00, plus additional costs 
incurred by the village   

  

  Text or map amendments to the zoning regulations, 
per filing   

$750.00, plus additional costs 
incurred by the village   

  

  Special use permit up to 1 acre:       

    Up to 1 acre   $750.00, plus additional costs 
incurred by the village   

  

    Per acre or fraction thereof over 1 acre   $10.00 per acre     

Developer donation impact fees: The following 
variables shall be used to determine developer 
donations for school, park, library, and village purposes 
in accordance with the method of calculation and 
provisions outlined in title 11 of this code, 
particularly title 11, chapter 4:   

  11-4-4   

  Lake Bluff park district multiplier   7.3 acres per 1,000 residents     

  School district 115 multiplier   50 acres per 1,500 students     

  School district 65 multipliers   15 acres per 600 K - 5 students 
30 acres per 900 6 - 8 students   

  

  Municipal (village)   9.7 acres per 1,000 residents     

  Library (village)   0.05 acre per 1,000 residents     

  Value of vacant land for "cash in lieu of" donation   $583,200.00 per acre   11-4-4G   

 
 
 
 



 

11 

LICENSE FEES  
 

Description   Amount   

Municipal 
Code 

Provision   

Business occupancy certificate fee   $  100.00   3-9-2B   

Business license transfer fee   10.00   3-1-4B   

Contractor's license fee; fees for all contractor licenses 
that are issued on or after November 1 shall be prorated 
on a semiannual basis   

100.00   9-2-3(105.8) 
  

Liquor licenses:       

  Initial application fee   250.00   3-2-4B   

  Annual license fees; fees for all liquor licenses, 
except class L, that are issued on or after 
November 1 shall be prorated on a semiannual 
basis:   

  3-2-9   

    Class A   2,500.00     

    Class B   940.00     

    Class C   2,500.00     

    Class D   2,500.00     

    Class L   30.00 per event     

    Class P   No charge     

    Class R   $1,250.00     

    Class S   1,250.00     

    Class T   1,250.00     

    Class U   1,250.00     

    Class V   2,750.00     

    Class W   500.00     

    Class X   500.00     

    Class Y   1,000.00     

    Class Z   275.00     

    Class AA   $250.00, provided that this charge 
will be waived for holders of an 
existing village liquor license   

  

Food license, restaurant/food store   $100.00   3-7A-2B   



 

12 

Food and beverage delivery service   $100.00 per vehicle   3-7B-1C1   

Milk and milk products sales, delivery and distribution:     3-7C-2B3   

  Engaging in business of delivery or distribution 
of milk   

$50.00 per vehicle     

  Retail businesses where milk is sold, except 
where a food dealer's license has been issued   

$ 50.00     

  Each milk vending machine   25.00     

Junk dealer   25.00   3-8-3A   

Gasoline station   100.00   3-6-5A   

Massage establishments   100.00   Title 3, 
chapter 13   

Motor vehicle:   40.00   6-2-3   

  Owner 65 or over   15.00   6-2-3   

Trucks   55.00   6-2-3   

Motorcycles, motorized bicycles, motorized tricycles and 
other motorized vehicles   

25.00   6-2-3   

Motor vehicle, truck or motorcycle late fee penalty   50% of license fee   6-2-3   

Vehicle license - transfer to new vehicle, same owner   No charge   6-2-3   

Vehicle license fine   $50.00   6-2-5   

Peddler or solicitor   $100.00 per person   3-3-3   

Scavenger   $750.00 per company   3-4-1B   

Taxicab service   $   25.00   3-5-3A   

Livery service   250.00   3-5-3B   

Fingerprinting fees:       

  Village resident   Free     

  Nonvillage resident   $100.00     

 
 
 



 

13 

PERMIT FEES  
 

Description   Amount   
Municipal 

Code Provision   

Commercial filming and videotaping:       

  Permit application   $1,000.00   3-10-3A1   

  Disruptive use of village property   2,000.00 per 
day   

3-10-3F1   

  Nondisruptive use of village property   1,000.00 per 
day   

3-10-3F1   

  Total closure of public street right of way   200.00 per 
hour   

3-10-3F1   

  Partial closure of public street right of way   100.00 per 
hour   

3-10-3F1   

Parking permit:       

  Village lot (Mawman Avenue)   125.00 per 
year   

  

  Train station lot   360.00 per 
year   

6-4-3D14, 6-4-4D14, 10-
6A-8C2c(2)   

  Train station lot   3.00 per day   6-4-3D12, 6-4-4D12   

  Overnight   300.00 per 
year   

6-4-3D2, 6-4-4D2   

  Central business district   150.00 per 
year   

  

  Central business district Walnut Avenue lot   50.00 per year 
  

6-4-3D16   

  Central business district train station lot (northern portion) 
  

25.00 per year 
  

6-4-3D16   

  Transfer to new vehicle, same owner   No charge     

Tree permit (see development fees of this section for tree 
permit application review fees):   

$50.00   10-11-6E   

  Application   50.00   10-11-6E   

 
 



 

14 

 
SUPPLIES AND OTHER USER CHARGES  
 

Description   Amount   

Municipal 
Code 

Provision   

Refuse and recycling containers   First container: provided 
by supplier   

4-2-8A   

  Each additional 
container: $5.00 per 
month   

  

Lost or damaged refuse or recycling container   $50.00 per container   4-2-8C   

Solid waste collection:       

  1.   For recyclables collection (curbside), weekly curbside 
solid waste collection, and weekly curbside landscape 
waste collection   

Amount pursuant to 
most recent contract   

4-2-7C   

A la carte waste disposal services:     4-2-7L   

  1.   For weekly back door solid waste collection   Amount pursuant to 
most recent contract   

  

  2.   For twice weekly curbside solid waste collection   Amount pursuant to 
most recent contract   

  

  3.   For twice weekly back door solid waste collection   Amount pursuant to 
most recent contract   

  

White goods collection   Amount pursuant to 
most recent contract   

4-2-7G   

 
 
TAXES  
 

Description   Amount   

Municipal 
Code 

Provision   

Automobile rental use tax 
  

1%     

Automobile renting 
occupation tax   

1%   1-8E-1A   

Cable and video service: 
  

    

  PEG access support 
fee   

1% of holder's gross revenues or, if greater, the percentage of 
gross revenues that incumbent cable operators pay to the village 
or its designee for PEG access support in the village   

3-11-3A   



 

15 

  Provider fee   5% of holder's gross revenues   3-11-2A   

Electric utility tax, calculated on a monthly basis for each purchaser:   1-8C-2A   

  Kilowatt Hours Used 
Or 

Consumed In A 
Month   

Cents Per 
Kilowatt Hour   

  

   First 2,000 
 Next 48,000 
 Next 50,000 
 Next 400,000 
 Next 500,000 
 Next 2,000,000 
 Next 2,000,000 
 Next 5,000,000 
 Next 10,000,000 
 Excess of 20,000,000 
  

$0.553 
0.416 
0.323 
0.315 
0.300 
0.280 
0.260 
0.240 
0.220 
0.200   

  

Emergency disaster 
services agency tax   

Not to exceed $0.05 per $100.00 of the full, fair cash value as 
equalized by the department of revenue of the state of Illinois on 
all taxable property in the village. However, that amount 
collectible under such levy shall in no event exceed $0.25 per 
capita   

2-7-13   

Emergency 911 
telephone tax   

$0.65 per month, per landline connection   5-4-2B2   

Foreign fire insurance 
companies   

2% of gross receipts   1-8F-1   

Home rule food and 
alcoholic beverage tax   

1% of the purchase price   1-8J-2   

Home rule hotel tax   7% of gross revenues   1-8H-2   

Home rule municipal 
retailers' occupation tax   

1% of gross receipts   1-8D-1A   

Home rule municipal 
service occupation tax   

1% of selling price   1-8D-2A   

Home rule municipal use 
tax   

1% of selling price   1-8D-3A   

Public benefit tax   0.05% of the full fair cash value as equalized or assessed by the 
state department of revenue   

1-8A-1   

Simplified municipal 
telecommunications tax   

5% of gross receipts   1-8G-2A   

Utility tax   5% of gross receipts   1-8B-2   

 
 



 

16 

USER CHARGES AND CONNECTION FEES  
 

Description   Amount   
Municipal 

Code Provision   

Water rate:     8-1B-1   

  Within the village   $6.95  $7.10 per 1,000 gallons of 
water usage   

  

  Outside the village   $7.99  $8.17 per 1,000 gallons of 
water usage   

  

Water service, account maintenance fee   $7.50 per quarter     

Water system recapture connection fee:       

  Within the village:       

    Per residential dwelling unit   $400.00 per 1/8 inch of tap size     

    New commercial construction   $0.73 per square foot     

    New tax exempt institutional 
construction   

$0.67 per square foot     

    Water system tap size increase   $400.00 per 1/8 inch of tap size     

  Outside the village   $600.00 per 1/8 inch of tap size     

Turning water on and off   $25.00   8-1A-3C3, 8-1A-10, 8-
1B-2B, 8-1C-9   

Reinstating water to a plugged pipe   10.00   8-1A-10   

Delinquent payment fee   1.5% of the outstanding balance   8-1B-5C   

Use of water by construction contractors   $10.00 for meter rental, plus charge 
for use of the water   

8-1C-7   

Cross connection control violations; fee to 
reconnect water service   

$100.00   8-1E-5   

Sanitary sewer rate:     8-1B-1   

  Within the village   $1.10 per 1,000 gallons of water 
usage   

  

  Outside the village   $1.21 per 1,000 gallons of water 
usage   

  

Sanitary sewer service, account 
maintenance fee   

$0.00 per quarter     

Sanitary sewer system recapture 
connection fee:   

    

  Within the village   $1,000.00     



 

17 

  Outside the village   2,000.00     

Storm sewer system recapture connection 
fee:   

    

  Within the village   750.00     

  Outside the village   1,000.00     

 
 
 
AMBULANCE TRANSPORT FEES  
 

Description   Amount   
Municipal 

Code Provision  

Resident and nonresident   $1,335.00    

 

 
Notes: 
1. Includes the construction of municipal utilities, including stormwater detention facilities, and the 
construction of private/public roadways and all new parking lots associated with new construction. 
2. In addition to the other applicable fees, a $25.00 application fee shall apply to all demolition permits. 
3. For purposes of determining square footage for demolition permit fees, only the square footage of floor 
area at or above grade shall be counted. 
4. "Costs" for preannexation include all legal, engineering, and other consulting and administrative fees, 
costs, and expenses that are incurred in connection with review and processing of the preannexation. 
5. "Costs" for annexation include all legal, engineering, and other consulting and administrative fees, 
costs, and expenses that are incurred in connection with review and processing of the annexation. 
6. "Costs" for subdivisions and planned developments include all legal, engineering, and other consulting 
and administrative fees, costs, and expenses that are incurred in connection with review and processing 
of the subdivision or planned development, including construction observation services related to all 
infrastructure construction associated with a development. An escrow and a maintenance guarantee are 
also required and shall be maintained to cover costs incurred as a result of a development. 
7. When consulting fees are incurred by the village for the processing of watershed development permits, 
the applicant shall pay the village for the cost incurred for utilizing the consultant in lieu of applicable 
fee(s) listed herein. 
8. "Major development", "minor development", and the permit categories used in this section shall have 
the meanings ascribed to them in the village watershed development ordinance. (See section 12-1-1 of 
this code.)” 
 
  Section 3. Effective Date. 
 

This Ordinance shall be effective following passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Lake Bluff in the manner required by law and publication in pamphlet form in the manner required by law. 

PASSED this _____ day of April, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff, as 
follows: 

AYES:  ( )   



 

18 

NAYS: ( )   

ABSENT: ( ) 
 
APPROVED this _____ day of April, 2016. 

______________________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________ 
Village Clerk 

 
FIRST READING:  March 28, 2016 
 
SECOND READING:   
 
PASSED:    
 
APPROVED:    
 
PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:   

 
 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION  

                               Agenda Item: 18 

 
Subject: 

 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO LAKE EFFECT HOLDINGS, 
LLC TO PERMIT OPERATION OF AN EATING PLACE WITHOUT A DRIVE-THROUGH 
FACILITY AND APPROVING A SITE PLAN AT 600 WALNUT AVENUE (Hansa Coffee 
Roasters) 

 

Action Requested: 
 

CONSIDER FIRST READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 
CONSIDER REQUEST TO WAIVE SECOND READING (Roll Call Vote) 

 

Originated By: 
 

LAKE EFFECT HOLDINGS, LLC (Petitioner) 
 

Referred To:  
 

ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW  
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 

Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
In January 2016 the Village received a zoning petition and a site plan review application from Lake Effect Holdings, LLC 
(Petitioner), owner of the former Village Market building (600 Walnut Avenue), seeking: (i) a Special Use Permit (SUP) to 
operate an eating place without a drive through facility, (ii) changes to the exterior of the building, and (iii) an exemption from 
the Sign Code requirements to allow an awning sign (to meet notice requirements this will be considered by the Board at its 
meeting on April 11th).  The Petitioner’s tenant is Hansa Coffee Roasters, a local coffee roaster that will provide a full service 
coffee bar (seats 28 customers in 1,030 sq. ft. of space), an assortment of roasted coffee beans, bakery and breakfast items, 
coffee machines, presses and other accessories. 
 

At its meeting on February 2nd the Architectural Board of Review (ABR) conducted a public hearing and recommended the 
Village Board approve an amended site plan allowing for the installation of window shutters, an awning structure above the 
entrance with a sign on each of the three sides of the awning valance, and to approve the existing position of the staircase 
(which was shown as perpendicular to the building pursuant to Resolution #2006-09).  On February 17th the Plan Commission 
& Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) conducted a public hearing and recommended the Village Board deny the request for a 
special use permit for an eating place because of the impact the new business would have on parking within the Central 
Business District (CBD).  At its meeting on February 22nd the Village Board considered the recommendations, and in light of 
new information presented to the Village Board by the Petitioner that was not previously presented to the PCZBA, referred the 
zoning petition back to the PCZBA for further consideration.  On March 16th the PCZBA conducted a public hearing and, with 
additional information on parking and traffic, recommended (on a 4 to 0 vote with 1 abstention) the Village Board approve the 
request for a special use permit with the following conditions: 
 

a) Hansa Coffee Roasters (Restaurant) shall be the exclusive Restaurant operating at this location;  
b) The Restaurant shall be a coffee shop that shall not prepare food on-site;  
c) The Restaurant shall operate from 6:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. Monday through Friday, 7:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. on Saturday, and 

12:00 to 6:00 p.m. on Sunday; 
d) No more than 28 seats may be provided for customer use;  
e) The maximum space for the Restaurant shall not exceed 1,030 sq. ft.;  
f) The Restaurant shall meet regularly with Village Staff to review traffic, parking and other issues relating to business 

operations; and 
g) All Restaurant employees must obtain a Downtown Employee Parking Permit and park at the Train Station.   
 

Mr. Robert Douglass, representative of the Petitioner, Tom Maegdlin and Kevin Kane (co-owners of Hansa Coffee Roasters), 
as well as Village Staff, will be in attendance to answer questions from the Board.  
 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. Ordinance (with Exhibits) Approving a Site Plan and Granting a Special Use Permit to the Petitioner to Operate an Eating 

Place Without a Drive Through; and 
2. ABR Staff Report Dated February 2, 2016 (without attachments);  
3. PCZBA Staff Report (without attachments) Dated March 11, 2016;  
4. A Letter Dated March 18th Requesting the Waiver of Second Reading of the Ordinance; and 
5. Comments Regarding the Restaurant. 
 

ABR’s Recommendation:   Approve the site plan amendment. 
PCZBA’s Recommendation:   Conditionally approve the ordinance. 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:  Consider first reading of the ordinance.  

Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/ 2016 









































































































































































































































































 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
                               Agenda Item: 19 

 
Subject: 

 
AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE BIENNIAL BUDGET FOR THE VILLAGE OF 
LAKE BLUFF FOR THE FISCAL YEARS COMMENCING MAY 1, 2016 AND 
ENDING APRIL 30, 2018 

Action Requested: SECOND READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 

Originated By: VILLAGE STAFF 

Referred To:  FINANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request:   
 
This tentative budget, in the amount of $14,043,941 plus $1,192,218 in inter-fund transfers for FY2017 and 
$13,934,293 plus $1,241,853 in inter-fund transfers for FY2018, includes the Village of Lake Bluff funds and the 
Lake Bluff Public Library funds. For the first time ever the Village is submitting a two-year fiscal plan; this multi-
year budget process emphasizes long-range planning, budgeting for results, effective program management, and fiscal 
responsibility.  
 
The operating budget (all costs except capital and contingency) for the Village and the Library is $10.774 million for 
FY2017 and $10.966 million for FY2018, both years representing a 1.8% increase from the previous year budget.  
The capital expenditure budget of $3.014 million for FY2017 and $2.707 million for FY2018 represents 21% and 
19% respectively, of the total budget.  Property taxes and sales taxes continue to be the two largest sources of revenue 
at $4.2 and $3.6 million, respectively. Sales tax revenue projections are 17% and 18% higher for FY2017 and 
FY2018, respectively, than the FY2015 actual sales tax revenue as automobile and auto-related sales recovered in 
2015, Heinen’s grocery store began operations in the vacant Dominick’s space in October 2014, and the Target store 
and adjacent out lot businesses began generating sales taxes in the July 2015. This budget was prepared with no 
recommended fee changes except for a 2.2% rise in the water rate from $6.95 to $7.10 per thousand gallons. 
 
From a planning perspective, our economic outlook remains cautious as the sustainability of the recovery is still 
uncertain. Locally, the economic climate improved in the prior fiscal year as evidenced by the 7% rise in income tax 
receipts estimated for FY2016; however, there continues to be significant concerns regarding the state’s fiscal 
management and its potential effect on the municipal allocation of state-shared revenues such as income, sales, 
personal property replacement, and motor fuel taxes. This budget was prepared with no modification in the formula 
for these State-shared sources nor with any property tax freeze, as there has been no clear plan coming from 
Springfield. Last year the Village increased its General fund balance reserve from 30% to 50% of operating 
expenditures to provide expanded flexibility to address potential revenue cuts and unanticipated issues. During this 
budget period the Village will postpone some capital items to address any changes enacted by the State legislature.  
 
On February 12, 2016 the Village Finance Committee discussed and recommended approval of this tentative budget 
document, which has been available for public inspection since March 3, 2016 at the Village Hall, the Public Safety 
Building and the Lake Bluff Library as well as on-line at the Village’s website at lakebluff.org.  The Village Board 
approved first reading of the ordinance at its meeting on March 14, 2016. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 A Copy of the Ordinance. 
 
The following document was provided as part of the March 14th Village Board Agenda Packet: 
 

 Tentative Budget Transmittal Letter. 
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:     Approval of the ordinance.  
 

Date Referred to Village Board: 3/28/2016 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016- 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE BIENNIAL BUDGET FOR  
THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF FOR THE FISCAL YEARS 
COMMENCING MAY 1, 2016 AND ENDING APRIL 30, 2018 

 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff has placed on file its proposed Tentative Biennial 
Budget and has made such Tentative Biennial Budget conveniently available for public inspection 
at least 10 days prior to the passage of the Biennial Budget; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, said Village of Lake Bluff held a public hearing on March 9, 2015 and 
complied with the provisions of Section 8-2-9.9 of the Illinois Municipal Code, 65 ILCS 5/8-2-9.9 
(1996) in the matter of its Biennial Budget for the fiscal years commencing May 1, 2016 and 
ending April 30, 2018. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS, as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1.  BUDGET ADOPTED. 
 
 The Biennial Budget with expenditures in the sum of fourteen million, forty-three 
thousand, nine hundred forty-one and 00/100's dollars ($14,043,941) be and the same is hereby 
adopted as the Biennial Budget for the Village of Lake Bluff for the year commencing May 1, 
2016 and ending April 30, 2017. The Biennial Budget with expenditures in the sum of thirteen 
million, nine hundred thirty-four thousand, two hundred ninety-three and 00/100's dollars 
($13,934,293) be and the same is hereby adopted as the Biennial Budget for the Village of Lake 
Bluff for the year commencing May 1, 2017 and ending April 30, 2018. The Village Administrator 
is authorized to transfer amounts between line items and departments within the same fund. 
  
 SECTION 2.  INTERFUND TRANSFERS. 
 
 Interfund transfers between Village funds, as specified in the Biennial Budget, in the sum 
of one million, one hundred ninety-two thousand, two hundred eighteen and 00/100’s dollars 
($1,192,218) for the fiscal year commencing May 1, 2016 and ending April 30, 2017 and Interfund 
transfers between Village funds, as specified in the Biennial Budget, in the sum of one million, 
two hundred forty-one thousand, eight hundred fifty-three and 00/100’s dollars ($1,241,853) for 
the fiscal year commencing May 1, 2017 and ending April 30, 2018 are hereby approved and 
incorporated into the Biennial Budget. 
 
 SECTION 3.  EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval, 
and publication as provided by law and shall be published in pamphlet form. 
 
PASSED this _____ day of March 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 
 
 



BIENNIAL BUDGET ORDINANCE 2016 

AYES:  ( )                
 
NAYS:  ( )  
 
ABSENT:  ( )  
 
APPROVED this ____ day of March 2016. 
       ___________________________ 
       Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Village Clerk 
 
FIRST READING:   March 14, 2016 
 
SECOND READING: March 28, 2016  
 
PASSED:    
  
APPROVED:    
 
PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BIENNIAL BUDGET ORDINANCE 2016 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016- 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE BIENNIAL BUDGET FOR THE VILLAGE OF 
LAKE BLUFF FOR THE FISCAL YEAR COMMENCING MAY 1, 2016 AND ENDING 

APRIL 30, 2018 
 
 

Passed by the Board of Trustees,  

Printed and Published, 
 
 
 
 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 
by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I hereby certify that this document 
was properly published on the date 
stated above. 
 
 
 
________________    
Village Clerk 
 




